JACC Report

No 23

Polycarboxylate Polymers as Used in Detergents

November 1993

ISSN-0773-6339-23

Joint Assessment of Commodity Chemicals No. 23

Polycarboxylate Polymers as Used in Detergents

November 1993

ISSN-0773-6339-23

ECETOC JACC No. 23

© Copyright - ECETOC (European Centre for Ecotoxicology and Toxicology of Chemicals), 4 Avenue E. Van Nieuwenhuyse (Bte 6), 1160 - Brussels, Belgium.

All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced, copied, stored in a retrieval system or transmitted in any form or by any means, electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording or otherwise without the prior written permission of the copyright holder. Applications to reproduce, store, copy or translate should be made to the Director. ECETOC welcomes such applications. Reference to the document, its title and summary may be copied or abstracted in data retrieval systems without subsequent reference.

The content of this document has been prepared and reviewed by experts on behalf of ECETOC with all possible care and from the available scientific information. It is provided for information only. ECETOC cannot accept any responsibility or liability and does not provide a warranty for any use or interpretation of the material contained in the publication.

POLYCARBOXYLATE POLYMERS AS USED IN DETERGENTS

CONTENTS

SECTION 1.	SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS	1
SECTION 2.	IDENTITY, PHYSICAL AND CHEMICAL PROPERTIES, ANALYTICAL	
		3
2.1		3
		3
		4
		4
		4
	2.1.5 Structural Formulae	4
	2.1.6 Molecular Weight	5
	2.1.7 Monomer Content	5
2.2	PHYSICAL AND CHEMICAL PROPERTIES	5
	2.2.1 Physical Form	5
		6
	2.2.4 Stability	6
2.3	ANALYTICAL DETERMINATION	6
	2.3.1 In Applications	ϵ
	2.3.2 Environmental Media	7
SECTION 3.	PRODUCTION, STORAGE, TRANSPORT AND USE	
3.1	PRODUCTION	
3.2	STORAGE AND TRANSPORT	
3.3	USE	8
		8
	3.3.2 Role in Detergents	9
	3.3.3 Consumption Data	9
SECTION 4.	ENVIRONMENTAL DISTRIBUTION AND TRANSFORMATION 1	
4.1	DEGRADABILITY	
	4.1.1 Aerobic Biodegradation in Discontinuous Test Systems 1	
	4.1.2 Sewage-Treatment-Plant Model Systems 1	
	4.1.3 Soil Systems	
	4.1.4 Anaerobic Biodegradability	
4.2	ELIMINATION IN SEWAGE TREATMENT PLANTS 1	
	4.2.1 Primary Clarification	3
	4.2.2 Activated Sludge Treatment	4
4.3	MOBILITY IN SOILS 1	16
4.4	ELIMINATION IN DRINKING WATER PREPARATION PROCESSES 1	
SECTION 5.	ENVIRONMENTAL LEVELS AND HUMAN EXPOSURE 1	
5.1	ENVIRONMENTAL LEVELS 1	
5.2	HUMAN EXPOSURE LIMITS 1	19

SECTION 6.	EFFECTS ON THE ENVIRONMENT	20
6.1	WASTE-WATER TREATMENT PROCESSES	
	6.1.1 Sludge Sedimentation during Primary Clarification	
	6.1.2 Activated-Sludge Waste-Water Treatment	
	6.1.3 Settling Behaviour of Activated Sludge	
	6.1.4 Anaerobic Digestion	
	6.1.5 Phosphate Precipitation	
	6.1.6 Dewatering of Digested Sludge	
	6.1.7 Coagulation of Raw Sewage by FeCl ₃	22
6.2	ECOTOXICITY	22
	6.2.1 Micro-organisms	22
	6.2.2 Aquatic Organisms	23
	6.2.3 Terrestrial Organisms	25
	6.2.4 Bioaccumulation	25
6.3	HEAVY METAL MOBILISATION	26
	6.3.1 Activated Sludge	26
	6.3.2 Sediments	26
	6.3.3 Soils	27
SECTION 7.	KINETICS AND METABOLISM	28
7.1	HUMAN	28
7.2	EXPERIMENTAL	28
	7.2.1 Gavage	28
	7.2.2 Skin	28
SECTION 8.	EFFECTS ON EXPERIMENTAL ANIMALS AND IN VITRO TEST	
OLO HON O.	Ell Edio on Extrementation ratio in visito income	
CECTION C.	SYSTEMS	29
8.1		
	SYSTEMS	29 29
	SYSTEMS	29 29 31
	SYSTEMS ACUTE TOXICITY 8.1.1 Oral 8.1.2 Dermal SKIN AND EYE IRRITATION, SENSITISATION	29 29 31 31
8.1	SYSTEMS ACUTE TOXICITY 8.1.1 Oral 8.1.2 Dermal SKIN AND EYE IRRITATION, SENSITISATION 8.2.1 Skin Irritation	29 29 31 31 31
8.1	SYSTEMS ACUTE TOXICITY 8.1.1 Oral 8.1.2 Dermal SKIN AND EYE IRRITATION, SENSITISATION	29 29 31 31 31
8.1	SYSTEMS ACUTE TOXICITY 8.1.1 Oral 8.1.2 Dermal SKIN AND EYE IRRITATION, SENSITISATION 8.2.1 Skin Irritation	29 31 31 31 32
8.1	SYSTEMS ACUTE TOXICITY 8.1.1 Oral 8.1.2 Dermal SKIN AND EYE IRRITATION, SENSITISATION 8.2.1 Skin Irritation 8.2.2 Eye Irritation	29 31 31 31 32 32
8.1 8.2	SYSTEMS ACUTE TOXICITY 8.1.1 Oral 8.1.2 Dermal SKIN AND EYE IRRITATION, SENSITISATION 8.2.1 Skin Irritation 8.2.2 Eye Irritation 8.2.3 Sensitisation SUBCHRONIC TOXICITY 8.3.1 Inhalation	29 31 31 31 32 32 33 33
8.1 8.2	SYSTEMS ACUTE TOXICITY 8.1.1 Oral 8.1.2 Dermal SKIN AND EYE IRRITATION, SENSITISATION 8.2.1 Skin Irritation 8.2.2 Eye Irritation 8.2.3 Sensitisation SUBCHRONIC TOXICITY 8.3.1 Inhalation 8.3.2 Oral	29 31 31 31 32 32 33 33
8.1 8.2	SYSTEMS ACUTE TOXICITY 8.1.1 Oral 8.1.2 Dermal SKIN AND EYE IRRITATION, SENSITISATION 8.2.1 Skin Irritation 8.2.2 Eye Irritation 8.2.3 Sensitisation SUBCHRONIC TOXICITY 8.3.1 Inhalation 8.3.2 Oral	29 31 31 31 32 32 33 33
8.1 8.2	SYSTEMS ACUTE TOXICITY 8.1.1 Oral 8.1.2 Dermal SKIN AND EYE IRRITATION, SENSITISATION 8.2.1 Skin Irritation 8.2.2 Eye Irritation 8.2.3 Sensitisation SUBCHRONIC TOXICITY 8.3.1 Inhalation 8.3.2 Oral 8.3.3 Dermal GENOTOXICITY	29 29 31 31 32 32 33 33 34 34
8.1 8.2 8.3	SYSTEMS ACUTE TOXICITY 8.1.1 Oral 8.1.2 Dermal SKIN AND EYE IRRITATION, SENSITISATION 8.2.1 Skin Irritation 8.2.2 Eye Irritation 8.2.3 Sensitisation SUBCHRONIC TOXICITY 8.3.1 Inhalation 8.3.2 Oral 8.3.3 Dermal GENOTOXICITY 8.4.1 Gene Mutation In Vitro	29 29 31 31 32 32 33 33 34 34
8.1 8.2 8.3	SYSTEMS ACUTE TOXICITY 8.1.1 Oral 8.1.2 Dermal SKIN AND EYE IRRITATION, SENSITISATION 8.2.1 Skin Irritation 8.2.2 Eye Irritation 8.2.3 Sensitisation SUBCHRONIC TOXICITY 8.3.1 Inhalation 8.3.2 Oral 8.3.3 Dermal GENOTOXICITY 8.4.1 Gene Mutation In Vitro 8.4.2 Gene Mutation In Vivo	29 29 31 31 32 32 33 33 34 34 35 36
8.1 8.2 8.3	SYSTEMS ACUTE TOXICITY 8.1.1 Oral 8.1.2 Dermal SKIN AND EYE IRRITATION, SENSITISATION 8.2.1 Skin Irritation 8.2.2 Eye Irritation 8.2.3 Sensitisation SUBCHRONIC TOXICITY 8.3.1 Inhalation 8.3.2 Oral 8.3.3 Dermal GENOTOXICITY 8.4.1 Gene Mutation In Vitro 8.4.2 Gene Mutation In Vivo CHRONIC TOXICITY AND CARCINOGENICITY	29 29 31 31 31 32 32 33 33 34 35 36 37
8.1 8.2 8.3	SYSTEMS ACUTE TOXICITY 8.1.1 Oral 8.1.2 Dermal SKIN AND EYE IRRITATION, SENSITISATION 8.2.1 Skin Irritation 8.2.2 Eye Irritation 8.2.3 Sensitisation SUBCHRONIC TOXICITY 8.3.1 Inhalation 8.3.2 Oral 8.3.3 Dermal GENOTOXICITY 8.4.1 Gene Mutation In Vitro 8.4.2 Gene Mutation In Vivo	29 29 31 31 32 32 33 33 34 35 36 37
8.1 8.2 8.3 8.4 8.5	ACUTE TOXICITY 8.1.1 Oral 8.1.2 Dermal SKIN AND EYE IRRITATION, SENSITISATION 8.2.1 Skin Irritation 8.2.2 Eye Irritation 8.2.3 Sensitisation SUBCHRONIC TOXICITY 8.3.1 Inhalation 8.3.2 Oral 8.3.2 Oral 8.3.3 Dermal GENOTOXICITY 8.4.1 Gene Mutation In Vitro 8.4.2 Gene Mutation In Vivo CHRONIC TOXICITY AND CARCINOGENICITY REPRODUCTION, EMBRYOTOXICITY, TERATOGENICITY	29 29 31 31 32 32 33 33 34 34 35 36 37
8.1 8.2 8.3 8.4 8.5	SYSTEMS ACUTE TOXICITY 8.1.1 Oral 8.1.2 Dermal SKIN AND EYE IRRITATION, SENSITISATION 8.2.1 Skin Irritation 8.2.2 Eye Irritation 8.2.3 Sensitisation SUBCHRONIC TOXICITY 8.3.1 Inhalation 8.3.2 Oral 8.3.3 Dermal GENOTOXICITY 8.4.1 Gene Mutation In Vitro 8.4.2 Gene Mutation In Vivo CHRONIC TOXICITY AND CARCINOGENICITY REPRODUCTION, EMBRYOTOXICITY, TERATOGENICITY	29 29 31 31 32 33 33 34 34 35 36 37 37
8.1 8.2 8.3 8.4 8.5 8.6	ACUTE TOXICITY 8.1.1 Oral 8.1.2 Dermal SKIN AND EYE IRRITATION, SENSITISATION 8.2.1 Skin Irritation 8.2.2 Eye Irritation 8.2.3 Sensitisation SUBCHRONIC TOXICITY 8.3.1 Inhalation 8.3.2 Oral 8.3.2 Oral 8.3.3 Dermal GENOTOXICITY 8.4.1 Gene Mutation In Vitro 8.4.2 Gene Mutation In Vivo CHRONIC TOXICITY AND CARCINOGENICITY REPRODUCTION, EMBRYOTOXICITY, TERATOGENICITY	29 29 31 31 32 33 33 34 34 35 36 37 37
8.1 8.2 8.3 8.4 8.5 8.6 SECTION 9. 9.1	ACUTE TOXICITY 8.1.1 Oral 8.1.2 Dermal SKIN AND EYE IRRITATION, SENSITISATION 8.2.1 Skin Irritation 8.2.2 Eye Irritation 8.2.3 Sensitisation SUBCHRONIC TOXICITY 8.3.1 Inhalation 8.3.2 Oral 8.3.3 Dermal GENOTOXICITY 8.4.1 Gene Mutation In Vitro 8.4.2 Gene Mutation In Vivo CHRONIC TOXICITY AND CARCINOGENICITY REPRODUCTION, EMBRYOTOXICITY, TERATOGENICITY EFFECTS ON MAN IRRITATION AND SENSITISATION	29 31 31 31 32 33 33 34 34 35 36 37 37 38
8.1 8.2 8.3 8.4 8.5 8.6 SECTION 9. 9.1 SECTION 10.	ACUTE TOXICITY 8.1.1 Oral 8.1.2 Dermal SKIN AND EYE IRRITATION, SENSITISATION 8.2.1 Skin Irritation 8.2.2 Eye Irritation 8.2.3 Sensitisation SUBCHRONIC TOXICITY 8.3.1 Inhalation 8.3.2 Oral 8.3.3 Dermal GENOTOXICITY 8.4.1 Gene Mutation In Vitro 8.4.2 Gene Mutation In Vivo CHRONIC TOXICITY AND CARCINOGENICITY REPRODUCTION, EMBRYOTOXICITY, TERATOGENICITY EFFECTS ON MAN IRRITATION AND SENSITISATION FIRST AID AND SAFE HANDLING ADVICE	29 29 31 31 32 32 33 33 34 34 35 36 37 37 38 38
8.1 8.2 8.3 8.4 8.5 8.6 SECTION 9. 9.1 SECTION 10. 10.1	SYSTEMS ACUTE TOXICITY 8.1.1 Oral 8.1.2 Dermal SKIN AND EYE IRRITATION, SENSITISATION 8.2.1 Skin Irritation 8.2.2 Eye Irritation 8.2.3 Sensitisation SUBCHRONIC TOXICITY 8.3.1 Inhalation 8.3.2 Oral 8.3.3 Dermal GENOTOXICITY 8.4.1 Gene Mutation In Vitro 8.4.2 Gene Mutation In Vivo CHRONIC TOXICITY AND CARCINOGENICITY REPRODUCTION, EMBRYOTOXICITY, TERATOGENICITY EFFECTS ON MAN IRRITATION AND SENSITISATION FIRST AID AND SAFE HANDLING ADVICE FIRST AID AND SAFE HANDLING	29 29 31 31 32 32 33 33 34 34 35 36 37 37 38 38 39 39
8.1 8.2 8.3 8.4 8.5 8.6 SECTION 9. 9.1 SECTION 10. 10.1	SYSTEMS ACUTE TOXICITY 8.1.1 Oral 8.1.2 Dermal SKIN AND EYE IRRITATION, SENSITISATION 8.2.1 Skin Irritation 8.2.2 Eye Irritation 8.2.3 Sensitisation SUBCHRONIC TOXICITY 8.3.1 Inhalation 8.3.2 Oral 8.3.3 Dermal GENOTOXICITY 8.4.1 Gene Mutation In Vitro 8.4.2 Gene Mutation In Vivo CHRONIC TOXICITY AND CARCINOGENICITY REPRODUCTION, EMBRYOTOXICITY, TERATOGENICITY EFFECTS ON MAN IRRITATION AND SAFE HANDLING ADVICE FIRST AID AND SAFE HANDLING SPILLAGE AND WASTE DISPOSAL	29 29 31 31 32 32 33 33 34 34 35 36 37 37 38 39 39 39
8.1 8.2 8.3 8.4 8.5 8.6 SECTION 9. 9.1 SECTION 10. 10.1	SYSTEMS ACUTE TOXICITY 8.1.1 Oral 8.1.2 Dermal SKIN AND EYE IRRITATION, SENSITISATION 8.2.1 Skin Irritation 8.2.2 Eye Irritation 8.2.3 Sensitisation SUBCHRONIC TOXICITY 8.3.1 Inhalation 8.3.2 Oral 8.3.3 Dermal GENOTOXICITY 8.4.1 Gene Mutation In Vitro 8.4.2 Gene Mutation In Vivo CHRONIC TOXICITY AND CARCINOGENICITY REPRODUCTION, EMBRYOTOXICITY, TERATOGENICITY EFFECTS ON MAN IRRITATION AND SENSITISATION FIRST AID AND SAFE HANDLING ADVICE FIRST AID AND SAFE HANDLING	29 29 31 31 32 32 33 33 34 34 35 36 37 37 38 39 39 39 39

APPENDIX A. SPECIAL ABBREVIATIONS	40
APPENDIX B. CALCULATION METHOD FOR ENVIRONMENTAL LEVELS	41
BIBLIOGRAPHY	44
MEMBERS OF THE TASK FORCE	48
MEMBERS OF THE SCIENTIFIC COMMITTEE	49

SECTION 1. SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS

Polycarboxylates used in detergents are homopolymers of acrylic acid, P(AA), or copolymers of acrylic acid and maleic anhydride, P(AA-MA). They are water-soluble polymers of a molecular weight (MW) < 100,000 with dispersive properties and are predominantly used in low-phosphate and phosphate-free detergent formulations to inhibit the deposition of inorganic precipitates and to disperse dirt. The use of polycarboxylates as detergent adjuncts has initiated a broad range of investigations into their toxicological and ecotoxicological effects as well as environmental fate.

P(AA)s and P(AA-MA)s are of low acute toxicity to the rat and the mouse ($LD_{50} > 5$ g/kgbw/d). They are slightly irritating to the rabbit skin and eye, but have no sensitising potential; neither irritation nor sensitisation potential has been observed in human beings. Mild, reversible and probably non-specific pulmonary irritation was observed at concentrations of 1 and 5 mg/m³ in a 91 day inhalation study in the rat. The responses seen were similar to those elicted by a number of different irritant materials and are not considered to be of particular significance. A No Observed Adverse Effect Level (NOAEL) of 0.2 mg/m³ was obtained for P(AA-MA)70,000 and 1.0 mg/m³ for P(AA)4,500. No other adverse findings were observed in this study. There was no evidence of mutagenic potential for P(AA)s and P(AA-MA)s using a variety of genetic endpoints, nor was there any teratogenic effect in the rat. Based on these data, it is concluded that exposure to polycarboxylates does not pose any particular hazard to human beings.

Comprehensive studies of the biodegradation behaviour of high-MW P(AA)s and P(AA-MA)s under relevant environmental conditions (sewage treatment, sludge digesters, soils, river waters) showed that these polycarboxylates are poorly degradable, both aerobically and anaerobically. However, P(AA)s with a MW ≤ 1,000 can be ultimately degraded to a considerable extent. High MW polycarboxylates used in detergents are largely removed during sewage treatment (> 90%) by adsorption onto sludge and precipitation of polycarboxylate calcium salts. Removal of more than 90% of all polycarboxylates is expected by precipitation with Fe or Al salts in plants where such chemical treatment is practised.

Disposal of digester sludge containing adsorbed polycarboxylates in landfills or its use on agricultural land as a fertiliser yields high-MW, non-degradable polycarboxylate species bound to the top layer of the soil, from which leaching does not occur. The mobile, low-MW species of polycarboxylates are accessible to ultimate degradation, as demonstrated in a number of tests, and usually removed before disposal of the sludge. Thus, contamination of ground-water by polycarboxylates is not anticipated.

Based on polycarboxylate usage and per capita water consumption, the estimated polycarboxylate concentrations in West Germany and Italy were calculated to be 4 mg/l in raw sewage, 0.3 mg/l in sewage treatment plant effluent, 30 μ g/l in surface waters and < 3 μ g/l in drinking water, the latter figures being a maximum level assuming worst-case conditions. For digested sewage sludge, a polycarboxylate level of 19 g/kg was calculated and for sludge-treated soil 6 mg/kg/y.

Using model systems, it has been determined that the estimated concentrations of the entire MW range of polycarboxylates in waste waters are far below the levels having adverse effect on the performance of sewage treatment plants and sludge treatment. The same is true with regard to the impact of polycarboxylates on the elimination of heavy metals in sewage treatment plants and their distribution in river waters.

Ecotoxicological tests of the entire MW range of polycarboxylates with microorganisms, aquatic and terrestrial organisms revealed that the no-observed effect concentrations (NOECs) are at least 1-2 orders of magnitude above the estimated environmental concentrations. The bioaccumulation potential of P(AA)s and P(AA-MA)s has not been tested, but bioaccumulation of these polymers is unlikely when considering their high MW and low solubility under environmental conditions.

The low toxicity and ecotoxicity of detergent P(AA)s and P(AA-MA)s, their effective removal from the water phase during sewage treatment and drinking water purification, and their almost complete immobilisation when released into the environment demonstrate that the use of these polycarboxylates in detergents poses no hazard to man and the environment.

SECTION 2. IDENTITY, PHYSICAL AND CHEMICAL PROPERTIES, ANALYTICAL METHODS

2.1 IDENTITY

Polycarboxylates used in washing powders and detergents are homopolymers of acrylic acid or copolymers of acrylic acid and maleic anhydride, generally as sodium salts.

The various polycarboxylates are distinguished by the monomers used for their preparation, acrylic acid (AA)¹ and maleic anhydride (MA), and their mass-average molar mass or molecular weight (MW). The polymers are designated by codes consisting of the corresponding abbreviations, P(AA) for polyacrylic acid, and P(AA-MA) for the copolymer of acrylic acid and maleic anhydride, to which the numerical value of MW is suffixed. For example:

P(AA)4,500: a homopolymer of acrylic acid (or its sodium salt) with a MW of approximately 4,500

P(AA-MA)70,000: a copolymer of acrylic acid and maleic anhydride (or its sodium salt) with a MW of approximately 70,000

2.1.1 CAS Registry Numbers

Numerous polycarboxylic acids and their salts have been given Registry Numbers by the US Chemical Abstracts Service (CAS); the following list is confined to the acids and their sodium salts (Table 1 and 2).

Table 1: P(AA) Homopolymers and their Sodium Salts

112		
	CAS Registry No.	CAS Name
Γ	9003-01-4	2-Propenoic acid, homopolymer
١	9003-04-7	2-Propenoic acid, homopolymer, sodium salt
١	25549-84-2	2-Propenoic acid, sodium salt, homopolymer
1	28603-11-4	2-Propenoic acid, homopolymer, sodium salt, isotactic

See Appendix A for abbreviations

Table 2: P(AA-MA) Copolymers their Sodium Salts

CAS Registry No.	CAS Name
29132-58-9	2-Butendioic acid (Z), polymer with 2-propenoic acid
51025-75-3	2-Butendioic acid (Z), monosodium salt, polymer with sodium 2-propenoate
51344-35-5	2-Butendioic acid (Z), sodium salt, polymer with sodium 2-propenoate
60449-78-7	2-Butendioic acid, disodium salt, polymer with sodium 2-propenoate
60474-42-6	2-Butenedioic acid (Z), polymer with 2-propenoic acid, sodium salt
61842-61-3	2-Butendioic acid (Z), disodium salt, polymer with 2-proprenoic acid
61842-65-7	2-Butendioic acid (Z), monosodium salt, polymer with 2-propenoic acid
63519-67-5	2-Butendioic acid (Z), sodium salt, polymer with 2-propenoic acid
112909-09-8	2-Butendioic acid (Z), disodium salt, polymer with sodium 2-propenoate
126595-54-8	2-Butendioic acid (Z), polymer with sodium 2-propenoate
52255-49-9	2-Propenoic acid, polymer with 2,5-furandione, sodium salt

2.1.2 EEC Numbers

None.

2.1.3 EINECS Numbers

Not applicable, because polycarboxylates are polymers.

2.1.4 Synonyms

Polycarboxylates, polycarboxylic acids (PCAs), polycarboxylic polymers, polyacrylates, acrylic resins. (The last 2 names are also common names for polymers of esters of acrylic acid.)

2.1.5 Structural Formulae (Figure 1 and 2)

Figure 1: Structure of P(AA) Homopolymers

Figure 2: Structure of P(AA-MA) Copolymers

2.1.6 Molecular Weight

The MW of polycarboxylates used in washing powders and detergents normally lies between approximately 1,000 and 100,000. For other applications, polymers with a MW of up to 10^7 may be used (Section 3.3). For the determination of MW distributions the polymers can be fractionated by gel-permeation chromatography. Experience has shown that determinations of MW in different laboratories may yield divergent results. For example, one laboratory found MW = 60,000 and another found MW = 70,000 for the same polymer (Fachgruppe Wasserchemie, 1990).

2.1.7 Monomer Content

Depending on the reaction process, the residual content of monomeric AA in P(AA) can amount up to 0.5%; in most cases, the monomer content is < 0.1%, often much lower. The content of residual MA monomer in P(AA-MA) is generally < 1% (BASF, 1992a).

2.2 PHYSICAL AND CHEMICAL PROPERTIES

2.2.1 Physical Form

Polycarboxylates are available commercially as yellowish, highly viscous aqueous solutions containing up to 50% solids or as an almost white spray-dried powder or granular material. In many cases, fully neutralised (pH 6-8), partially neutralised (pH around 4) and acidic (pH around 2) products are on the market (pH measured in the liquid as delivered or in a 10% aqueous solution).

An unspecified 'polyacrylic acid' has been described as a hygroscopic, brittle, colourless solid with a glass-transition temperature of 106°C; at 200-250°C it loses water. Insoluble cross-linked polymeric anhydrides are formed which cannot be hydrolysed with water, but can be hydrolysed with sodium hydroxide (Jung *et al*, 1980).

2.2.2 Solubility

Polycarboxylic acids and their alkali metal salts are readily soluble in water, but the salts are insoluble in most organic solvents. The acids dissolve in dioxane, dimethylformamide and lower alcohols, but not in acetone, ether or hydrocarbons (Armstrong and Strauss, 1969).

In neutral or alkaline aqueous solution, higher MW polycarboxylates form salts with excess calcium ions that are poorly soluble. The solubility increases as the MW of the polymer decreases. Since the MW distribution of commercial polycarboxylates may be wide, their precipitation may be incomplete. The solubility of the high MW fraction (80-90%) of P(AA-MA)70,000 (Ca salt) is less than 0.01 mg/l (Opgenorth, 1987).

2.2.3 Adsorption

Because of the negative charge of the carboxyl groups, polycarboxylates have a strong tendency towards adsorption on solid surfaces. Substances with a positive zeta-potential, such as calcium carbonate or calcium sulphate, bind polycarboxylates solely through electrostatic forces (Nestler, 1968). In the presence of bivalent cations, adsorption onto solids with negative surface charge becomes possible (Opgenorth, 1987, 1992).

2.2.4 Stability

Polycarboxylates are very stable compounds as the carboxyl part of the molecule is the only functional group. The presence of multiple neighbouring carboxyl groups along the polymer chain adds further to their stability: for example, complete esterification cannot be achieved by standard methods of preparation. Strong oxidising agents, such as sodium hypochlorite, cause degradation of the polymer chain (BASF, 1992b).

2.3 ANALYTICAL DETERMINATION

2.3.1 In Applications

Polycarboxylates in cooling water from power stations and in waste water can be determined turbidimetrically as insoluble compounds with quaternary ammonium salts (Angenend and Schulte-Wieschen, 1979). Although the limit of detection is not given, the method seems to be applicable at concentrations ≥ 1 mg/l. Similar concentrations (≥ 1 mg/l) can be determined by adding excess iron(III), most of which will be bound by the polycarboxylates, and colorimetric analysis of excess

iron as iron thiocyanate; water-soluble interfering substances can be separated by adsorption of the polycarboxylate on a special column (Hach, 1984).

2.3.2 Environmental Media

Methods are being developed for the analysis of polycarboxylates in environmental samples, e.g. treated effluent, surface water or drinking water. The main problem with environmental samples is caused by the simultaneous occurrence of large amounts of natural polyanions such as humic acids.

In the (unlikely) absence of interfering substances, mass concentrations of polycarboxylates (≥ 0.01 mg/l) can be determined by polyelectrolyte titration. This method is based on titration of polyanions with polycations in the presence of an anionic metachromic indicator (Schroeder *et al.*, 1991).

Polycarboxylates in drinking water containing high levels (> 1 mg/l) of organic substances (predominantly humic acids) can be determined if the interfering substances are first destroyed by oxidation with potassium permanganate. Since some polycarboxylate is not recovered, the limit of detection is effectively increased (Wassmer *et al*, 1991).

In general, reliable results have not been obtained from analysis of samples of treated effluent or surface water (Wassmer et al, 1991).

No methods are available for the analysis of polycarboxylates in soil, sediment and in biological media; radiolabelling techniques can be used to examine the fate of polycarboxylates in these systems.

SECTION 3. PRODUCTION, STORAGE, TRANSPORT AND USE

3.1 PRODUCTION

Polycarboxylates used in washing powders and detergents are generally prepared by free-radical polymerisation of AA, or AA and MA, in aqueous solution. The MW is influenced by the reaction conditions such as temperature and concentration, but the most important factors are the proportion and nature of initiators and chain-transfer agents used. For initiation, peroxides, azo compounds, and redox systems such as iron(II) and hydrogen peroxide or sulphite and peroxydisulphate are employed; the most important chain-transfer agents include alcohols, amines and mercaptans (Jung et al, 1980).

3.2 STORAGE AND TRANSPORT

Polycarboxylates are handled and transported as aqueous solutions, powders or granules; as such they are stable over long periods. Transport of polycarboxylates does not present any special risks and they are not classified as dangerous goods for transportation.

3.3 USE

3.3.1 General

The properties of polycarboxylates can be modified to meet many applications, e.g. by variation of the MW, addition of co-monomers or cross-linking (Jung *et al*, 1980).

Polyacrylates of very high MW (1-10 million) are used as flocculants in water treatment and paper manufacture, as thickeners in paste pigments, cosmetics, and pharmaceuticals and to bind water in superabsorbent products such as disposable baby-napkins. They can also be used to increase the viscosity of water injected during petroleum fractionation, a process used in tertiary oil refining.

Polycarboxylates of MW 1,000-100,000 are primarily dispersing agents, used in pigment dispersions for paper coating, to prevent furring of water-cooling systems, and in textile sizes. In phosphate-free or low-phosphate washing powders they serve as anti-ash and dirt redeposition inhibitors.

3.3.2 Role in Detergents

Polycarboxylates in low-phosphate or phosphate-free detergent formulations inhibit the formation of inorganic crystals and disperse dirt (McGrew, 1986).

As a consequence of the reduction of phosphate content in detergents, the concentrations of free calcium and magnesium rise in the washing water. The metal ions tend to form precipitates with hard water and some detergent components. Polycarboxylates inhibit the crystal growth of inorganic precipitates at sub-stoichiometric levels (threshold effect), so that these salts remain in suspension and do not precipitate onto the textile fabrics. By virtue of their dispersive properties, polycarboxylates play an important role in laundering, where they prevent redeposition of dirt removed from fabrics.

The fact that polycarboxylates can form insoluble salts does not counteract the functions just described. Whether or not precipitation takes place depends on the alkalinity of the solution and above all on the ratio of the calcium ion concentration to the carboxyl group concentration. In detergent formulations designed to achieve a pH > 9 the concentration of free calcium ions is too low to cause precipitation. When the pH falls to 7-8 and calcium ions are present in excess (e.g. in sewage), precipitation of calcium salts of polycarboxylates will occur.

3.3.3 Consumption Data

The consumption of polycarboxylates in household detergents is estimated at 19 kt/y in West Germany in 1989 (Fachgruppe Wasserchemie, 1990) and 15 kt/y in Italy (Chiaudani and Poltronieri, 1990). In both countries almost exclusive use is made of phosphate-free household washing powders formulated with polycarboxylates (mass fraction of 2-5%). Thus, an estimated per capita consumption of 0.3 kg/y is obtained.

The total consumption of polycarboxylates in Italy was estimated to be 18 kt/y; this figure includes applications other than detergents (Section 3.3.1) (Chiaudani and Poltronieri, 1990).

SECTION 4. ENVIRONMENTAL DISTRIBUTION AND TRANSFORMATION

Over the past 20 years, a great deal of data has been generated on the environmental distribution and transformation of polycarboxylates used in detergents. In some cases, the test method was insufficiently specified and/or the exact nature (e.g. MW) of the tested polycarboxylates not given (Lehmann, 1973; Schefer, 1982; Jakobi, 1984; Schefer and Romanin, 1988). Recently, four reviews on detergent polycarboxylates and their environmental impact have been published (Hunter *et al*, 1987; Fachgruppe Wasserchemie, 1990; Chiaudani and Poltronieri, 1990; UK Department of the Environment, 1991). Hereafter, only those references that provided supplementary, specific data or additional information to the original publications and company reports are taken into account. In general, data from the available literature are in agreement concerning the environmental behaviour of polycarboxylates.

Due to their major use in detergents, the main pathway of polycarboxylates into the environment is via domestic waste water and sewage treatment to surface waters receiving treated effluents. Once in the sewerage system, polycarboxylates are removed from water by physico-chemical processes such as adsorption on to particulate matter and precipitation. The same processes of adsorption and precipitation are responsible for the elimination of polycarboxylates in a 2-stage (mechanical-biological) sewage treatment plant (STP), where a major part will be removed with the primary and secondary sludges. In the STP effluent, only minute amounts of soluble, non-absorbed polycarboxylates are expected. The sewage sludges are normally stabilised by anaerobic digestion and are subsequently used in agriculture as fertilisers, or disposed of by incineration or land-filling. Therefore, with respect to the environmental fate of polycarboxylates, degradation and elimination processes in STPs, surface waters and soils are of main interest.

4.1 DEGRADABILITY

4.1.1 Aerobic Biodegradation in Discontinuous Test Systems

Discontinuous biodegradation tests with P(AA) and P(AA-MA) were carried out under various bacterial inoculation conditions.

Respirometric Tests

No evidence for short-term biodegradation was obtained when P(AA)3,000-4,000 (test concentration: 5-200 mg/l) was evaluated for BOD_5 , BOD_{10} (Biological Oxygen Demand after 5 and 10 d) and DOC (Dissolved Organic Carbon) removal after inoculation with effluent of a municipal STP (Metzner and Naegerl, 1982).

Similar tests with P(AA)920-15,700 showed a BOD_s/ThOD (Theoretical Oxygen Demand) ratio of < 13% (Abe *et al*, 1984).

A respirometric closed-bottle test with P(AA-MA)70,000 resulted in < 14% biodegradation (Jakobi, 1984).

River Water Die-away Tests

A number of ¹⁴C-labelled P(AA)s (MW 1,000, 2,000 and 10,000 labelled backbone; MW 4,500 labelled backbone and at the COO group) and P(AA-MA)s (MW 12,000 and 70,000 labelled backbone and at the COO group) were tested in flasks fitted with CO₂ absorbers to trap the ¹⁴CO₂ evolved during biodegradation of the polycarboxylates. The polycarboxylates (test concentration: 0.1 and 1 mg/l) were incubated for up to 19 wk in river water, pre-adapted river water or a mixture of river water and sediment. Mineralisation in river water was < 20% for all polymers tested. The P(AA)s were mineralised to a higher degree in pre-adapted river water and river water plus sediments than in river water alone, the extent of degradation being 63% and 58% for P(AA)1,000, and 15% and 12% for P(AA)10,000 in the first 2 media. The results for P(AA-MA)s were not significantly different in these 3 test waters and show that their degradation is very slow under discontinuous test conditions (Hennes, 1991).

Tests with Activated Sludge Inoculum

Several batch degradation tests were conducted employing activated sludge as a bacterial inoculum.

Partial biodegradability of polycarboxylates (MW 1,000-70,000) was shown in long-term incubations (≤ 90 d) of ¹⁴C-labelled P(AA) and P(AA-MA). The polycarboxylates (1, 10, 100 mg/l) were added to activated sludge (2-3 g Dry Suspended Solids [DSS]/l) from a municipal STP fed with a synthetic nutrition medium during the test period. P(AA)1,000 was mineralised to an average extent of 43%.

The results for the remaining polycarboxylates showed a decrease in mineralisation with increasing MW, from 19% for P(AA)2,000 to around 15% for the copolymers (Hennes, 1991).

The partitioning of 14 C-labelled P(AA-MA) 70,000 was investigated in an activated sludge batch system (2-3 g DSS/I). After addition of the 14 C-polymer (1-5 mg/I), the mixture was aerated for 4 h and allowed to settle for 2 h in order to simulate realistic STP retention times. The 14 CO₂ evolution was \leq 4% when non-acclimated or acclimated sludges from a municipal STP or a laboratory simulation plant were used. In most cases > 80% of the radiolabel was associated with the sludge solids; very little remained in the supernatants (Yeoman *et al.*, 1990).

Additional evidence of the substantial biodegradability of low MW polycarboxylates was obtained when the non-adsorbed fraction (7%) remaining in solution was tested following incubation of ¹⁴C-P(AA-MA)70,000 in a sludge batch system. This fraction was mineralised to 77-89% in a soil-bacteria inoculated screening test within 32 days (Opgenorth, 1989).

In conclusion, the experimental results show that only partial biodegradation associated with the low MW fraction of polycarboxylates can be expected under discontinuous screening test conditions.

4.1.2 Sewage-Treatment-Plant Model Systems

P(AA-MA)70,000 was investigated in a model STP using pre-adapted (4-5 wk) sewage sludge. The ¹⁴C-labelled copolymer (5-20 mg/l) was added either continuously for 4-5 d or by pulse loading (1 single addition of 5 mg/l). The sludge loading was 0.3 g BOD_g/g DSS/d, the hydraulic retention time was 17 h and the sludge age 10 d. In both cases, > 90% of the radiolabel was recovered in the sludge, whilst 2-3% remained in the supernatant. Under continuous dosing conditions, 5% of the ¹⁴C was mineralised to ¹⁴CO₂; pulse loading yielded almost 2% ¹⁴CO₂. The authors concluded that in real STPs the low MW fraction of P(AA-MA) can probably be ultimately biodegraded (Schumann, 1990).

4.1.3 Soil Systems

¹⁴C-labelled P(AA) of MW ≤ 10,000 and P(AA-MA)12,000 and P(AA-MA)70,000 were tested (10-10,000 mg/kg soil) in a batch system containing sludge-treated soil. After 5 months incubation, the $^{14}CO_2$ evolution ranged from ≤ 12% for P(AA)s and P(AA-MA)s with MW ≥ 2,000 to 35% for P(AA)1,000 (Hennes, 1991).

The ¹⁴CO₂ production from added P(AA-MA)70,000 was followed for 1 year after incubation in standard soil (loamy sand, 1% organic C). The total amount of ¹⁴CO₂ evolved was 4-7%, mainly within the first month (Opgenorth, 1989).

These results suggest poor biodegradation of polycarboxylates in soils. The degradable fraction is assumed to arise from the low MW P(AA) species.

4.1.4 Anaerobic Biodegradability

Based on studies simulating the digestion of sewage sludge no evidence exists for anaerobic biodegradability of high MW polycarboxylates.

¹⁴C-P(AA-MA)70,000 (20 mg/l) was incubated anaerobically (258 d at 35°C) in digester sludge with added nutrients. After purging of volatile products with nitrogen, 11-16% of ¹⁴C was transformed into unidentified gaseous products (Opgenorth, 1989). Anaerobic incubation of ¹⁴C-P(AA-MA)70,000-loaded activated sludge in a model digester did not result in degradation (Opgenorth, 1989). Most (94-95%) P(AA-MA) remained adsorbed onto the digester sludge. A small non-adsorbed quantity (5-6%) of P(AA-MA) was partly biodegraded and partly re-adsorbed onto the activated sludge when the water was released back into the STP. The authors concluded that renewed entry of adsorbed polymer materials into the aquatic phase after sludge digestion can be excluded (BASF, 1992c).

4.2 ELIMINATION IN SEWAGE TREATMENT PLANTS

4.2.1 Primary Clarification

The removal of polycarboxylates during primary clarification of raw waste water in STPs depends on their MW, but is low compared to the removal of Total Suspended Solids (TSS).

A dynamic settling test with ¹⁴C-labelled P(AA)4,500, P(AA-MA)12,000 and P(AA-MA)70,000 (5-6 mg/l) was carried out to simulate the primary clarification process, using raw municipal sewage sampled after elimination of coarse particles by a comminuter. TSS removal in the test unit (2 h retention time) was 70-84%, comparing favourably to normal TSS removal (50-70%) by an effectively operated primary clarifier (Metcalf and Eddy, 1979). The degree of removal was 13% for P(AA)4,500, 8% for P(AA-MA)12,000 and 29% for P(AA-MA)70,000 (Hennes, 1991).

Results obtained with P(AA-MA)70,000 added to raw sewage filled into batch test units confirmed the slow settling of polycarboxylates: 12-44% settled after 2 h and 81-88% after 96 h (BASF, 1992d).

4.2.2 Activated Sludge Treatment

Screening Tests

In a screening test to predict full-scale activated sludge treatment, removal of polycarboxylates was found to be a function of their MW. In semi-continuous activated sludge (SCAS) batch tests, relatively high polymer concentrations (e.g. 20 mg/l) were added to municipal activated sludge suspensions. The test systems were aerated for 23 h and renewed daily for 7 consecutive days. The results showed that elimination of polycarboxylates in activated sludge tests generally increased with increasing MW (Table 3).

Table 3: Elimination in Activated Sludge Tests

Polycarboxylate	Elimination (%)	Reference
P(AA)1,000	45	Hennes, 1991
P(AA)2,000	21	Hennes, 1991
P(AA)4,500	40	Hennes, 1991
P(AA)10,000	58	Hennes, 1991
P(AA)60,000	93	Hennes, 1991
P(AA-MA)12,000	83	Hennes, 1991
P(AA)9,400	40	Unilever, 1989
P(AA)23,000	48	Unilever, 1989
P(AA)111,000	81	Unilever, 1989
P(AA)152,000	95	Unilever, 1989
P(AA)215,000	95	Unilever, 1989
P(AA-MA)70,000	94-99	Opgenorth, 1987; Hennes, 1991; Unilever, 1989; Ziegler, 1985

These figures represent removal of P(AA)s and P(AA-MA)s by a combination of adsorption-precipitation and biodegradation. A comparison with the results of pure biodegradation tests with activated sludge inoculum (Section 4.1.1.) demonstrates that the removal of P(AA)1,000-2,000 is mainly due to biodegradation. Adsorption/precipitation accounts for the overall removal of the higher MW polycarboxylates.

The same conclusion can be drawn from results obtained in the Zahn-Wellens test, another screening test system with activated sludge (1 g DSS/I). After 3 h, the elimination of P(AA-MA)70,000 (50-400 mg/I at start) was 86%; at completion of the test (28 d), the C removal was about 98% (Chiaudani and Poltronieri, 1990).

The sorptive-precipitative nature of polycarboxylates was shown in sorption flask tests with activated sludge (water hardness 2-17°d; 1°d = 10 mg/l CaO) when biodegradation was excluded by the test design. The elimination was 92-94% for radiolabelled P(AA-MA)70,000 (0.5-10 mg/l) (Opgenorth, 1989) and 45-60% for P(AA)3,000-4,000 (5-200 mg/l) in the pre-sence of washed phosphorus-free activated sludge (water hardness not specified) (Metzner and Naegerl, 1982).

Model Plants for Activated Sludge Treatment

Studies simulating full-scale activated sludge treatment also demonstrate that the removal of polycarboxylates generally increases with increasing MW.

Several polycarboxylates (concentration 1-3 mg/l for ¹⁴C-labelled; 10-30 mg/l for unlabelled materials) were tested in model STPs. The studies were conducted according to the OECD confirmatory and coupled units test protocols. The units were filled with municipal activated sludge and continuously fed with raw or synthetic sewage. The operating conditions were similar to a full-scale system, including sludge loading (0.3 BOD₅/g TSS/d), sludge retention time (approximately 10 d) and TSS content. The hydraulic retention time varied from 3 h in the Coupled Units Test (Henkel Laboratory, 1987) to 6-7 h (Hennes, 1991; Opgenorth, 1987) and 17 h (Schumann, 1990) in various OECD confirmatory tests.

From these tests data on overall removal are obtained (cf. degradability, Section 4.1.) The results show that the elimination of polycarboxylates by activated sludge treatment increases with their MW (Table 4).

The differences in the results for P(AA)4,500 are assumed to be due to differences in the initial test concentrations (1 mg/l: 75% [Rohm and Haas, 1991d]; 3 mg/l: 27% and 30 mg/l: 16% [Hennes, 1991]).

The elimination of polycarboxylates of MW > 2,000 by activated sludge treatment is mainly by adsorption/precipitation of their calcium salts on the sludge. This requires calcium to be present in molar excess with respect to polycarboxylate. According to the data obtained in a number of tests,

Polycarboxylate	Elimination (%)	Reference
P(AA)1,000	9 - 24	Hennes, 1991
2,000	13 - 18	Hennes, 1991
4,500	16 - 27 75	Hennes, 1991 Rohm and Haas, 1991d
P(AA-MA)12,000	70 - 80	Hennes, 1991
70,000	82 - 93 >94 97 - 98*	Hennes, 1991 Opgenorth, 1987 Schuman, 1990
P(AA)78,000	78	Henkel Laboratory, 1987

Table 4: Elimination by Activated Sludge Treatment

an average elimination rate of at least 90% can be anticipated for P(AA-MA) 70,000 in the biological stage of a STP.

Tertiary Treatment (Simultaneous Phosphate Precipitation)

P(AA)4,500 and P(AA-MA)12,000 were tested in a model STP with added ferric chloride (100 mg FeCl₃/l), to simulate simultaneous phosphate precipitation. Under these conditions the removal increased from 22 and 74%, respectively, to > 90% for both polymers. Since the removal efficiency is a function of MW, the figure will be even higher for P(AA-MA)70,000 (Hennes, 1991).

In conclusion, the results from screening and simulation tests with activated sludge give evidence that the removal of polycarboxylates is mainly due to adsorption/precipitation of the polymers. Non-adsorbed low MW polycarboxylates are significantly removed by biodegradation processes.

4.3 MOBILITY IN SOILS

Since a major part of polycarboxylates in STPs is eliminated by adsorption/precipitation, polycarboxylates can be expected to reach the soil environment via disposal of sewage sludge. Their potential to migrate with rain or irrigation water can be assumed to be very low. Evidence for this behaviour was found in lysimeter studies with ¹⁴C-labelled polycarboxylates, described below.

When 50 μ g ¹⁴C-labelled P(AA)4,500, P(AA-MA)12,000 and -70,000 were spiked on to medium grained sandy soil (96% sand, 2% silt, 2% clay and 0.02% organic C) in a lysimeter percolated with

^{*} Continuous dosing and pulse loading

simulated groundwater for 10 wk, the mobile fraction, analysed as the activity in the column effluent, consisted of 10% of P(AA)4,500, 16% of P(AA-MA)12,000 and 7% of P(AA-MA)70,000. The major part of this mobile fraction was eluted with the percolated water and was assumed to be of low MW. Similar elutable polycarboxylate fractions would not be found in a soil treated with sewage sludge because of their tendency to remain with the aqueous phase and their biodegradation potential in activated sludge (Section 4.2.2). Most of the polycarboxylate fraction was non-mobile and remained within the first 10-15 mm of the soil column, as demonstrated by the combustion of soil segments and recovery of ¹⁴CO₂ at the end of the experiments (Hennes, 1991).

In another lysimeter, digested sewage sludge with added radio-labelled P(AA-MA)70,000 was applied to a humus-rich, peaty soil. The soil was percolated with distilled water (equivalent to the average rainfall over 6-7 y) and, during another test run, with water of pH 4.8 and 3.0 to simulate acid rain. In all experiments, no free P(AA-MA)70,000 could be detected in the eluate. Activity analysis of different soil segments demonstrated that the polycarboxylate had been retained by the upper soil layer (Opgenorth, 1987).

4.4 ELIMINATION IN DRINKING WATER PREPARATION PROCESSES

Polycarboxylates are removed from raw drinking water to a large extent by coagulation-flocculation with aluminium chloride (AICl₃) or ferric chloride (FeCl₃). This purification process is applied typically to surface water of high turbidity or TSS content when used as a source of raw drinking water. In some cases, the water intake may contain traces of polycarboxylates.

In an experiment similar to the jar test, 14 C-labeled P(AA)4,500, P(AA-MA)12,000 and P(AA-MA)70,000 were added at concentrations of 5-600 μ g/l. The jar test is normally conducted at drinking water treatment plants to determine the optimum coagulant dose for TSS removal. At optimal coagulant doses (10 - 50 mg/l AlCl₃ or FeCl₃), removal of the polymers was > 90% in river water of acceptable quality and > 60% in river water of low quality for drinking water production. The removal was not found to be a function of MW (Hennes, 1991).

When high concentrations of P(AA)3,000-4,000 (100 mg/l) and coagulant doses (50-500 mg/l AlCl₃, FeCl₃ and lime slurry) were applied, the polycarboxylate removal was lower: 30-70% (Metzner and Naegerl, 1982). However, this study was designed to test the polymer for use as a conditioning agent in drinking water preparation and the low removal may not be representative in the context of trace concentrations of polycarboxylate in raw drinking water. A similar study with P(AA)15,000 (30 mg/l) showed > 90% removal with AlCl₃ and FeCl₃ (Jekel and Sontheimer, 1981).

SECTION 5. ENVIRONMENTAL LEVELS AND HUMAN EXPOSURE

5.1 ENVIRONMENTAL LEVELS

No data are available on polycarboxylate levels measured in the environment (Section 2.3.2). The only valid measurement results refer to drinking water, where polycarboxylate levels were below the limit of analytical detection of 10 μ g/l (Schroeder *et al*, 1991).

Levels of polycarboxylates in the environment were estimated from the data on their removal in different environmental compartments (Appendix B). Calculations were carried out for P(AA-MA)70,000 which is predominantly used in phosphate-free laundry detergents (Section 3.2). The levels of P(AA-MA)70,000 in different environmental compartments were estimated for West Germany and Italy as follows (Table 5):

Table 5: Estimated Levels of P(AA-MA)70,000

Environmental	Compartment	Level	Unit
Raw sewage		4.1	mg/l
Sewage treatn (mechanical/bi		0.29	mg/l
Surface water	(dilution of treated effluent) (dilution of untreated effluent)	0.03 0.41	mg/l mg/l
Drinking water		<0.003	mg/l
Digested sewa	age sludge	19	g/kg
Sludge-treated	l soil	6	mg/kg/y

The extremely low concentrations of polycarboxylates in drinking water are supported by the above-mentioned measurements of Schroeder *et al* (1991).

As P(AA) and P(AA-MA) are poorly degradable, elevated concentrations are to be expected in agricultural soils treated with sewage sludge. It should be noted that the polycarboxylates are deposited in the soil as inert and insoluble calcium compounds.

5.2 HUMAN EXPOSURE LIMITS

No data exist on human exposure levels and no occupational exposure limits have been fixed for polycarboxylates used in industrial processes. Toxicological results in the laboratory and practical experience during production and use have shown that detergent polycarboxylates exhibit a low toxicity profile which substantiates the lack of need to define specific exposure limits.

In view of their high affinity for moisture, there is a potential for polycarboxylates to cause discomfort by drying and adherence to mucous membranes. Therefore it is advisable to keep exposure levels as low as resonably practicable and plant target limits of 1 mg/m³ for total airborne dust have been operational in detergent manufacturing plants without apparent detrimental effect on the workers (see company safety datasheets).

SECTION 6. EFFECTS ON THE ENVIRONMENT

6.1 WASTE-WATER TREATMENT PROCESSES

6.1.1 Sludge Sedimentation during Primary Clarification

The influence of polycarboxylates on sludge TSS during primary clarification (the mechanical stage of STPs) was determined in the influent raw sewage and the effluent of a continuous test system (hydraulic retention time 2 h) simulating the primary settler of an STP. In the presence of P(AA)1,000, P(AA)2,000, P(AA)4,500 and P(AA-MA)12,000 (30 mg/l, maximum concentration tested), no effects on TSS removal were obtained; P(AA-MA)70,000 had no deleterious effect at levels < 22 mg/l. With P(AA)10,000, a small effect (< 10% TSS removal) was noted at 1, 10 and 30 mg/l, but not at 0.3 and 3 mg/l (Hennes, 1991). Hence, no influence on the sludge sedimentation behaviour in primary classifiers is to be expected at realistic polycarboxylate concentrations in raw sewage.

6.1.2 Activated-Sludge Waste-Water Treatment

Addition of P(AA)3,000-4,000 (up to 150 mg/l) to municipal raw sewage in a discontinuous Sapromat test did not inhibit the degradation of peptone within the 5-d test period. There were no significant effects on biodegradation kinetics and cumulative BOD (Metzner and Naegerl, 1982). The performance of a continuous activated sludge model plant was not significantly affected, in terms of COD (Chemical Oxygen Demand), TSS removal and SVI (Sludge Volume Index), by the addition of P(AA)4,500, P(AA-MA)12,000 and P(AA-MA)70,000 (up to 30 mg/l, the highest concentration tested) (Hennes, 1991).

When P(AA)78,000 (up to 50 mg/l, i.e. 20 mg/l organic C) was tested in a Coupled Units Test, representing a continuous STP model system, the highest concentration tested had no significant effect on the removal of organic C, COD and MBAS (Methylene-Blue Active Substances) (Henkel Laboratory, 1987). Thus, no adverse effects on the performance of an STP are anticipated.

P(AA-MA)70,000 (10 mg/l) was added alternately to each of 2 bench-scale model STPs (operating conditions, see Section 4.2.2, model plants) for several weeks to compare polymer-dosed and undosed model STPs. Daily determination of DOC-, COD- and BOD_s-removal, effluent concentrations of settleable solids and the SVIs showed no differences between the 2 test plants. There were also no significant differences in quality of the excess sludges, measured by their dry

matter, volatile solids and TOC contents. The same was true for the microscopic structure of the sludges' flocs and the presence of filamentous bacteria and protozoa (Opgenorth, 1989).

6.1.3 Settling Behaviour of Activated Sludge

In addition to the model STP investigations (Section 6.1.2), several tests were conducted on the settling behaviour of activated sludge loaded with polycarboxylates.

In batch tests with P(AA)2,000, P(AA)4,500, P(AA)10,000 and P(AA-MA)12,000 up to 100 mg/l, the highest concentration tested, there was no effect on the settling rate of activated sludge. In the presence of P(AA)1,000 at 30 and 100 mg/l, a small increase in sedimentation was seen, whereas there was a gradual decrease with P(AA-MA)70,000 at 30 and 100 mg/l (i.e. the slope of the regression line was significantly different from 0 at a 95% confidence level). Due to the varying settling velocities in a real sludge clarifier, where sludge is allowed to settle and thicken, this effect has no practical significance (Hennes, 1991).

Concentrations of up to 100 mg/l P(AA)9,400, P(AA)23,000, P(AA)111,000, P(AA)152,000, P(AA)215,000 and P(AA-MA)70,000 had no significant effect on the SVI (Unilever, 1989).

6.1.4 Anaerobic Digestion

No effects on the kinetics and amount of gas formed were observed when a batch of activated sludge loaded with P(AA)78,000 was incubated in a laboratory digester for 7 wk at 36°C, up to 500 mg/l (the highest concentration tested; corresponding to a sludge load of 25 mg/g of dry matter) (Henkel Laboratory, 1987). A similar anaerobic incubation of P(AA-MA)70,000-loaded sludge obtained from a model STP (concentration not given) produced qualitative data suggesting no disturbance of the digestion process by the polymer (Opgenorth, 1987).

6.1.5 Phosphate Precipitation

To simulate simultaneous precipitation of phosphates by polycarboxylates in STPs, 100-150 mg/l of $FeCl_3$ or $Al_2(SO_4)_3$ (corresponding to molar ratios of 1.3-2.0:1 for Fe/Al:P in the influent) were added in the presence of P(AA)4,500, P(AA-MA)12,000, a mixture of these 2 polymers, or P(AA-MA)70,000. The phosphorus concentration in the STP model effluents was not affected by any polycarboxylates up to 30 mg/l, the highest concentration tested (Hennes, 1991).

6.1.6 Dewatering of Digested Sludge

A comparison of capillary suction times during dewatering of digested sludge, with optimum dosage of FeCl₃ for sludge conditioning, showed that the presence of 10 mg/l of P(AA)1,000, P(AA)4,500 and P(AA-MA)70,000 was without any effect (Hennes, 1991).

The same conclusion may be drawn from results of a STP model with P(AA-MA)70,000 dosed for several weeks (Section 6.1.2). The produced activated sludge did not reveal any differences in sludge dewatering properties and the demand of flocculation additives (Opgenorth, 1989).

6.1.7 Coagulation of Raw Sewage by FeCl₃

Coagulation of raw sewage by Al or Fe salts is often used in STPs to reduce the organic load of the subsequent biological treatment step.

In a batch test of raw sewage loaded with polycarboxylates, the effect of different polycarboxylate concentrations on TSS concentration and turbidity of the supernatant were determined following FeCl₃ addition, subsequent stirring and sedimentation for 30 min. The NOECs (No Observed Effect Concentrations) were in the range of 1-3 mg/l of P(AA)1,000, P(AA)4,500, P(AA)10,000; 10 mg/l of P(AA)2,000 and 30 mg/l of P(AA-MA)12,000 and P(AA-MA)70,000 (Hennes, 1991). These NOECs are higher than the predicted polycarboxylate concentrations in sewage.

6.2 ECOTOXICITY

6.2.1 Micro-organisms

Polycarboxylates proved to be harmless to bacteria at concentrations of at least 100 times above the environmentally relevant range (Section 5.1).

In tests examining effects of polycarboxylates on physiological reactions, the EC₅₀ (O₂-consumption) for P(AA)1,000-4,500 and P(AA-MA)12,000-70,000 was > 100 mg/l; the EC₅₀ (glucose consumption) for P(AA)4,500 and P(AA)10,000 was > 1,000 mg/l (Hennes, 1991). Additional data on bacterial oxygen consumption are available for P(AA)78,000, where the EC₀ was 36 mg/l in a test with *Pseudomonas putida* (Henkel Laboratory, 1987); for P(AA-MA)70,000 the EC₁₀ was \geq 200 mg/l and the EC₀ 400 mg/l with sludge bacteria (BASF, 1992e). In the Microtox test with luminescent bacteria, P(AA-MA)70,000 showed an EC₂₀ > 200 mg/l (BASF, 1992f).

Chronic bacterial toxicity tests determining the growth inhibition concentration underlined the low bacterial toxicity of high MW homo- and heteropolymers: the EC_0 of P(AA)78,000 was 300 mg/l (Henkel Laboratory, 1987), the EC_{10} of P(AA-MA)70,000 was 180 mg/l (Opgenorth, 1987).

6.2.2 Aquatic Organisms

Acute Toxicity (Tables 6 and 7)

Acute fish and Daphnia toxicity data are available for a number of polycarboxylates. A consistently low toxicity was observed (Tables 6 and 7). It should be pointed out that in most cases the highest concentration tested was below the LC_{50} so that different "greater than" values reflect the highest concentrations tested, but do not necessarily refer to differences in toxicity.

Table 6: Acute Toxicity to Fish

Polymer tested	Zebra fish	Golden orfe	Bluegill (Lepomis	Trout (Salmo gairdneri,
	(Brachydanio rerio)	(Leuciscus idus	macrochirus)	Oncorhynchus mykiss)
	96h LC₅₀ (mg/l)	<i>melanotus)</i> 96h LC ₅₀ (mg/l)	96h LC ₅₀ (mg/l)	96h LC ₅₀ (mg/l)
P(AA)1,000	> 200ª	0011 E0 ₅₀ ((11g/1)	. 1 0000	4.000
•			> 1,000°	> 1,000°
P(AA)2,000	> 200ª			
P(AA)4,500	> 200ª		> 1,000°	700 ^h
			> 1,000 ^l	
P(AA)9,400	> 1,000 ^f			
P(AA)10,000			> 1,000ª	
P(AA)23,000	> 1,000 ^f			
P(AA)78,000	> 1,000°	1,590 ^d		
P(AA)111,000	> 1,000 ¹			
P(AA)152,000	> 1,000 ^f			
P(AA)215,000	> 1,000 ^f			
P(AA-MA)12,000	> 200ª			
P(AA-MA)70,000	> 100°	> 200 ^b		
	> 1,000 ^f			

References:

- a = Hennes, 1991
- b = Opgenorth, 1987
- c = Henkel Laboratory, 1987
- d = Degussa, 1985
- e = Rohm and Haas, 1983a
- f = Unilever, 1989
- g = Rohm and Haas, 1983a
- h = Rohm and Haas, 1983c
- i = Rohm and Haas, 1983d

Polymer	48h EC _{so} (mobility) (mg/l)	Reference
P(AA)1,000	> 200	Hennes, 1991
	≥ 1,000	Rohm and Haas, 1983e; Chiaudani and Poltronieri, 1990
P(AA)2,000	> 200	Hennes, 1991
P(AA)4,500	> 200	Hennes, 1991
	> 1,000	Rohm and Haas, 1983f; Chiaudani and Poltronieri, 1990
P(AA)78,000	750 (24h)	Henkel Laboratory, 1987
P(AA-MA)12,000	> 200	Hennes, 1991
P(AA-MA)70,000	> 100	Hennes, 1991
	> 500	Chiaudani and Poltronieri, 1990
	> 200	Opgenorth, 1987
	> 908	Schuman, 1990

Table 7: Acute Toxicity to the Freshwater Flea (Daphnia magna)

The acute toxicity of P(AA)4,500 to chironomid larvae was tested in a sediment batch system. After 96 h, no effect was observed at the highest concentration tested (4,500 mg/kg dry matter) (Hennes, 1991).

Subchronic and Chronic Toxicity

Inhibitory effects on algal growth were observed with *Scenedesmus subspicatus*, the 96-h EC₁₀ being 180 mg/l for P(AA)4,500 (Hennes, 1991); different values were obtained for P(AA-MA) 70,000 with 96-h EC₁₀ values of 32 mg/l (Schumann, 1990) and \geq 200 mg/l (Opgenorth, 1987). The EC₁₀ (algal growth, 4-14 d) for P(AA)78,000 was 82 mg/l with *Scenedesmus* and 30 - > 1,000 mg/l with *Chlorella kessleri*. The toxicity decreased with the test period, indicating some adaptation (Henkel Laboratory, 1987).

In 21-d reproduction (life-cycle) tests using P(AA)4,500 with *Daphnia magna* divergent results were obtained, with NOEC values of 12 mg/l (Rohm and Haas, 1991c) and 450 mg/l (Hennes, 1991). For P(AA)78,000, the NOEC was 400 mg/l (Henkel Laboratory, 1987) and for P(AA-MA)70,000, 350 mg/l (Hennes, 1991). The NOEC for P(AA-MA)70,000 was much lower under test conditions where precipitation of the polymers by formation of their calcium salt took place, viz. 6.2 mg/l (Opgenorth, 1987) or 1.3 mg/l (Schumann, 1990). Opgenorth (1992) pointed out that polycarboxylates are less toxic in solution (NOEC 350 mg/l) than when precipitated due to water hardness at lower concentrations. He assumed that physical - rather than toxic - effects must be

held responsible, depending on the state of coagulation of the polycarboxylate salt. The author concluded that the environmental relevance of these findings is limited because in practice polycarboxylates are preferentially adsorbed on solids and the tested form will not be present in surface waters. It should be noted that the lowest NOEC is much higher than the estimated concentrations in surface water (Section 5.1).

The 14-d EC₁₀ for inhibition of colony growth of *Hydra littoralis* was 40 mg/l for P(AA-MA)70,000 (Opgenorth, 1987). A 14-d sublethal toxicity test with zebra fish (*Brachydanio rerio*) resulted in a NOEC of 1,000 mg/l (highest concentration tested) for P(AA)78,000 (Henkel Laboratory, 1987), and 40 mg/l (highest concentration tested) for P(AA-MA)70,000 (Opgenorth, 1987).

In a subchronic (4 wk) early life-stage test with zebra fish (*Brachydanio rerio*), the NOEC was 450 mg/l (highest concentration tested) for P(AA)4,500 (Hennes, 1991), and, in a 6-wk test, 40 mg/l (highest concentration tested) for P(AA-MA)70,000 (Opgenorth, 1987). An early life-stage test of P(AA)4,500 with Fathead minnow (*Pimephales promelas*) resulted in a NOEC of 124 mg/l (Rohm and Haas, 1991a).

6.2.3 Terrestrial Organisms

The acute toxicity of polycarboxylates to earth worms (*Eisenia foetida foetida*) is low. For P(AA)4,500, the LC_{50} was > 1,000 mg/kg soil (Rohm and Haas, 1991b). LC_{0} values were reported for P(AA)78,000: 1,000 mg/kg soil (Henkel Laboratory, 1987) and for P(AA-MA)70,000: 1,600 mg/kg soil (Opgenorth, 1987).

P(AA)4,500 did not inhibit the growth of corn, soybean, wheat and grass seeds up to 225 mg/kg soil, the highest concentration tested (Hennes, 1991). P(AA)78,000 showed a NOEC of 1,000 mg/kg soil for growth of turnip seed (Henkel Laboratory, 1987). In a growth inhibition test of oats seeds with P(AA-MA)70,000, a NOEC of 400 mg/kg soil was established (Opgenorth, 1987).

6.2.4 Bioaccumulation

Experimental data on the bioaccumulation potential of polycarboxylates are not available.

The estimation of the bioconcentration potential by means of the n-octanol/water partition coefficient (P_{ow}) is only applicable to substances with an MW < 600 (Veith and Kosian, 1988) and non-ionisable compounds (OECD, 1981). Bioaccumulation of polycarboxylates is unlikely because absorption through biological membranes is only assumed to occur for substances with a MW < 600

(Zitko, 1981). In addition, the high water solubility of the parent compound together with its propensity to form insoluble calcium salts in natural waters suggests that bioaccumulation is unlikely.

6.3 HEAVY METAL MOBILISATION

The mobility of heavy metals in activated sewage sludge, river sediments and soils is not affected by the presence of polycarboxylates at realistic environmental concentrations (estimated in Section 5.1).

6.3.1 Activated Sludge

The distribution of P(AA)s and P(AA-MA)s of different MW was tested in a batch test with activated sewage sludge (Hennes, 1991) and, for P(AA-MA)70,000 only, in a model STP (Opgenorth, 1987). The batch tests were carried out in centrifuge bottles with polycarboxylate concentrations of 10, 30 and 100 mg/l added to sludge suspensions which were stirred and aerated for 24 h, allowed to settle and centrifuged. Analysis of dissolved Cd, Cu, Ni, Pb, and Zn showed that P(AA-MA)70,000 did not cause any effect, compared to the control, within the concentration range tested. Addition of 10 mg/l P(AA)1,000 and P(AA)2,000 resulted in an increase of up to 30% in Cu-concentrations; 100 mg/l of these polymers and P(AA)4,500 caused an increase in the concentrations of Zn (up to 100%) and Cu (up to 80%); 100 mg/l P(AA-MA)12,000 resulted in a 46% increase of Cu. It should be noted that these concentrations will never occur in municipal activated sludge. The distribution of the other heavy metals remained unaffected at all polycarboxylate concentrations tested.

P(AA-MA)70,000 (10 mg/l) was dosed alternately for several weeks to 2 model STPs operated in parallel (operating conditions, see Section 4.2.2, model plants). Concentrations of Cr, Cu, Ni, Pb, Zn, Cd and Hg were analysed in the effluent and compared with the control. No differences in the extent of elimination of Cr, Cu, Ni, Pb, and Zn were observed. The concentrations of Cd and Hg were at the limit of detection and the degree of elimination could not be calculated, but the effluent concentrations were not increased (Opgenorth, 1987, 1989).

6.3.2 Sediments

Experiments with batch sediment suspensions were conducted in the way described above (Section 6.3.1). The sediment was taken from the top 1-2 cm of river sediment, wet-sieved to remove coarse particles and suspended in river water from the same location. Following the addition of polycarboxylates, no mobilisation of Zn, Ni, Pb, Cd or Cu into the dissolved phase was observed up

to a concentration of 10 mg/l P(AA)1,000, P(AA)2,000 and P(AA)4,500, and 30 mg/l P(AA-MA)12,000 and P(AA-MA)70,000, the highest concentration tested. Only at 30 mg/l of P(AA)2,000 and P(AA)4,500, a concentration far beyond the level expected in real surface waters, was there an increase in the concentration of Zn (up to 45%) (Hennes, 1991).

6.3.3 Soils

In a batch test using a suspension of soil loaded with heavy metal salts of Cd, Cr, Cu, Hg, Ni and Pb (250 mg/kg), P(AA-MA)70,000 (10 and 100 mg/l) were added and stirred for 1 h to test the possible leaching of heavy metals. Addition of 10 mg/l P(AA-MA)70,000 did not cause any increase in the concentration of heavy metals in the eluate, compared to the control run. Only 100 mg/l P(AA-MA), a level that is not expected to occur in real soils, resulted in slightly increased effluent concentrations of Cu and Cr (Opgenorth, 1989).

SECTION 7. KINETICS AND METABOLISM

7.1 HUMAN

No data are available on the toxicokinetics and metabolism of any P(AA)s or P(AA-MA)s in man.

7.2 EXPERIMENTAL

Some limited metabolism studies have been undertaken on a phosphinated P(AA), P(AA-P)2,500 (50% aqueous solution) containing < 2% phosphinate (Unilever, 1990). The results are summarised below because they may give some insight into the toxicokinetics and metabolism of P(AA) and P(AA-MA).

7.2.1 Gavage

 14 C-labelled P(AA-P)2,500, prepared from 14 C-labelled AA (3.6 μCi/mg), was administered by gavage at 25 mg P(AA-P)/kgbw to Colworth Wistar rats. Urine, faeces and expired air were assayed for radioactivity over 4 d and tissues and carcass remains were also assayed. Only 0.35% of the administered dose was recovered as expired air, and 0.47% in the urine. Tissue levels and carcass levels after 4 d were extremely low, 0.03% and 0.3% respectively. Most of the 14 C dose (82-94%) was recovered in the faeces, indicating there was very little absorption from the intestinal tract (Unilever, 1990).

7.2.2 Skin

Guy and Hadgraft (1987) have shown that compounds with a MW > 1,000 are unlikely to penetrate the skin readily. The presence of polar groups in a molecule also tends to reduce its permeability through the skin. Thus it would be anticipated that skin penetration by P(AA)s and P(AA-MA)s would be low.

¹⁴C-P(AA-P)2,500 as described above was also applied topically to the clipped skin of Colworth Wistar rats as a 21.4% aqueous solution providing a dose of 43 mg/animal. The area was covered by an occlusive patch to prevent evaporation of water from the skin and to optimise conditions for penetration. Excreta, carcass, skin and protective patch were assayed for ¹⁴C after 2 d and penetration of sample occurring over 10 cm² of skin was estimated by summation of the ¹⁴C levels in expired air, urine and faeces. Most of the applied dose remained on the skin at 48 h, with some remaining on the occluded patch. Penetration was low since only 0.3% was recovered in expired air, urine and faeces (Unilever, 1990).

SECTION 8. EFFECTS ON EXPERIMENTAL ANIMALS AND IN VITRO TEST SYSTEMS

There are very few published data on the toxicology of polycarboxylate polymers, the major exceptions being some genotoxicity and teratogenicity testing reported recently (Thompson *et al*, 1989; Nolen *et al*, 1989) and mucous membrane irritancy and repeated dose testing undertaken mainly in the 1950s (e.g. Finnegan and Dienna, 1953). However, much of the toxicological data in company files on P(AA) and P(AA-MA) copolymers has been made available to aid the compilation of this chapter.

A summary of the findings for P(AA) over a wide range of MW and for P(AA-MA)12,000 and P(AA-MA)70,000 is provided in Table 8. Essentially, negative findings have been obtained (with the exception of some skin and eye irritancy data at high test concentrations). In general, the polymers were supplied as an aqueous solution containing 40-50% of the polymer, and tested either as supplied or diluted. Substances were normally neutralised and frequently tested as the salts. Monomer content was not normally stated. Unless stated otherwise, doses are expressed in this chapter as a % or weight of the received solutions. Where adjustments are made for the water content, doses are expressed as a % or weight of the active P(AA) or P(AA-MA) ingredient.

8.1 ACUTE TOXICITY (Table 8)

P(AA)s and P(AA-MA)s are of an extremely low acute toxicity to rat or mouse, oral LD_{50} values being generally > 5 g/kgbw.

8.1.1 Oral

Neutralised P(AA)1,000 was neither toxic nor lethal following its oral administration to groups of 3 rats at a dose level of 5 g/kgbw; the LD_{50} was > 5 g/kgbw (Rohm and Haas, 1982a).

In a rat acute oral study undertaken on P(AA)4,500 using groups of 3 rats, the LD $_{50}$ was > 5 g/kgbw (Rohm and Haas, 1982b). Clinical observations included increased salivation and staining around the nose at 5 g/kgbw, but not at 0.5 g/kgbw. When P(AA)1,200, P(AA)2,500, P(AA)8,000 and P(AA-MA)70,000 were tested to standard OECD LD $_{50}$ protocols, the LD $_{50}$ was > 5 g/kgbw in each case. Older investigations with P(AA)15,000 and P(AA)70,000 revealed LD $_{50}$ values > 10 g/kgbw (BASF, 1992g). When P(AA)78,000 was tested using groups of 5 male and 5 female animals, the LD $_{50}$ was > 10 g/kgbw (Degussa, 1983a,d).

Summary of Acute Toxicity In In Vitro Test Systems and Experimental Animals (Section 7 and 8)

Table 8:

						+ P(AA) →						+ P(/	← P(AA-MA) →
MW:	MW: 1,000	1,200	2,000	2,500	4,500	8,000	15,000	37,000	70,000	78,000	90,000	12,000	70,000
LD _{So} (mg/kgbw) oral (rat)	۸ س	۸ دی		۸ دی	۷ م	v v	v 10		, 10	v 10			ιο ^
dermal (rabbit)	^ 2				۸ ک								
Irritation	ž	Z		Z		1			Į.	2			2
eye (rabbit)	_ გ	SL		╏	SL	ĒZ			SL/N	_ გ			동
Sensitisation M&K/BU					¢2			97		ey.			Ø/Y
(guinea pig)					!					2			2
Subchronic													
toxicity													
28 d (rat)				œ									၁'ဗ
91 d (rat)					Q								a,b
Ames test			9/-		9/-							-76	-48
In vitro													
cytogenetics					9 ^-							ê^-	
UDS assay			٩٨-		-\ -							-VB	-ve
Gene mutation			-Ve		-4							9^-	-49
In vivo													
chromosome			-76										-46
ADME studies				9/-									
Teratogeniticy (rat)					9/-						-78	92	

Slight effects observed; not classified under EEC regulations (m, marginal score 1 h after application)

Not irritant
Test done, negative response obtained
See text, oral
See text, inhalation
See text, dermal

8.1.2 Dermal

In a rabbit dermal study on P(AA)4,500 with 2 rabbits the LD_{50} was > 5 g/kgbw using an occluded patch protocol. No deaths occurred. Toxic signs included well defined erythema with no oedema on day 1 with recovery by day 2. The slight skin irritation observed was insufficient to warrant classification (Rohm and Haas, 1982b).

P(AA)1,000 was applied dermally to 2 rabbits at the maximum dose of 5 g/kgbw for 24 h before being wiped off. No toxic signs were observed and no gross organ changes recorded. Erythema was noted on day 1 which had cleared by day 5 and skin desiccation observed on day 5 which had cleared by day 8. The LD_{50} was > 5 g/kgbw (Rohm and Haas, 1982a).

8.2 SKIN AND EYE IRRITATION, SENSITISATION (Table 8)

P(AA)s and P(AA-MA)s are not normally classified under EEC regulations as hazardous with respect to their skin and eye irritation and sensitising properties. Nevertheless, there are some observations described below which indicate that these substances may be slightly irritating to both skin and eye under certain conditions of exposure not related to detergent use. The term SL as applied in Table 8 indicates that the hazard is insufficient to attract the R and S phrases as described in EEC directive 67/548 and its amendments. None of the polymers and copolymers tested have been reported to be sensitisers.

8.2.1 Skin Irritation

When P(AA)1,000 (Rohm and Haas, 1982a), P(AA)1,200, P(AA)2,500 or P(AA)8,000 (BASF, 1992g) was applied dermally to 3 rabbits for 4 h as an occluded patch, no signs of erythema or oedema were detected.

Evidence of slight skin irritation was recorded for P(AA)70,000 when tested on 6 rabbits as a 1-1.5 times dilution in aqueous solution. The Primary Irritation Index (PII) was < 1 (Rohm and Haas, 1974). However, a 40% active solution of P(AA)70,000 was not irritant to the skin of 3 rabbits following a non-OECD protocol (BASF, 1992g). When P(AA)78,000 was tested on the intact skin of 3 rabbits for 4 h as an occluded patch, no signs of irritation were observed (Degussa, 1983b,e).

P(AA-MA)70,000 was not irritant to the skin of 3 rabbits (BASF, 1992g) or 6 rabbits (Rohm and Haas, 1991).

8.2.2 Eye Irritation

When P(AA)1,000 (Rohm and Haas, 1982a) or P(AA)1,200 (BASF, 1992g) was applied to the eyes of 3 rabbits, no damage to the cornea or iris was detected. Slight conjunctival irritation was observed but this had cleared 24 h after administration.

Similarly, evidence of slight eye irritation was observed following administration of P(AA)2,500 to 3 rabbits (BASF, 1992g). Slight eye irritancy has also been observed for P(AA)4,500 (Rohm and Haas, 1982b). P(AA)8,000 was non-irritant when tested as a 45% active solution in water (BASF, 1992g).

P(AA)70,000 was also slightly irritant to the eyes of 6 rabbits, causing conjunctival effects which cleared by 72 h. No damage to the cornea or iris was noted (Rohm and Haas, 1974). However, P(AA)70,000 was not irritant following a non-OECD protocol (BASF, 1992g). P(AA)78,000 was slightly irritant when tested on 3 rabbits, with recovery by 24 h (Degussa, 1983c,f).

P(AA-MA)70,000 was only slightly irritating to the eye when tested in 3 rabbits, with full recovery by 48 h (BASF, 1992g).

8.2.3 Sensitisation

P(AA)4,500 tested in a M&K assay was found to be a non-sensitiser. Induction and challenge doses of 0.4% active ingredient were given (Rohm and Haas, 1988).

P(AA)37,000 has been tested in a modified Draize sensitisation test and found to be a non-sensitiser. Induction doses of 0.75% active ingredient were used, followed by challenge concentrations of 0.3% active (i.d.) and 5% active in saline (topical). None of the 10 animals per test group became sensitised (Unilever, 1990).

P(AA)78,000 has been tested in a Magnusson and Kligman Guinea pig maximisation test (M&K assay). The animals were given 0.1 ml of an 0.1% aqueous solution i.d. as one of the induction doses and 0.2 ml of a 20% aqueous solution as the occluded patch induction dose. This was applied for 48 h. After the appropriate period all animals received a challenge dose of 0.2 ml of a 2.5% dilution of the test compound as a single occluded patch administration for 24 h. No skin reactions were observed in the test group or in the control group (Henkel, 1990).

P(AA-MA)70,000 was tested in a standard M&K assay. After i.d. induction of 0.1 ml of the test substance formulation, distinct erythema and oedema was observed at all injection sites of the test animals. Two separate challenge doses of 80% of the test substance formulaton were applied and no sensitisation was observed. The challenges were given at day 19 and 26 following the induction phase. It was concluded that P(AA-MA)70,000 did not have a sensitising effect on guinea pigs (Rohm and Haas, 1988b; BASF, 1992h).

8.3 SUBCHRONIC TOXICITY

A number of subchronic studies have been undertaken, none of which indicated any serious adverse effects.

8.3.1 Inhalation

P(AA)4,500 and P(AA-MA)70,000 have been tested separately in a 91-d inhalation study using groups of 25 male and 25 female rats. They were exposed to 0.2, 1.0 or 5.0 mg/m³ of each polymer for 6 h/d, 5 d/wk for 13 wk. The polymers were administered as aerosols, delivering measured respirable doses near the target concentrations. Ten animals from each group were allowed a recovery period of a further 91 d. Microscopic examination of lung tissues from the animals killed immediately after the last exposure found signs of mild pulmonary irritation based on at least 1 of the following: increase in polymorphonuclear granulocytes or alveolar macrophages, pneumocyte hyperplasia, alveolar wall thickening and focal alveolitis in the animals exposed to 1 and 5 mg/m³ of P(AA-MA)70,000 and to 5 mg/m³ of P(AA)4,500. Microscopic examination of those animals allowed the recovery period showed no lasting or residual microscopic lesions which could be considered to be treatment-related. All other parameters including body and organ weights, food and water consumption, clinical observations and blood chemistry were within the normal range. From these studies it was concluded that the NEL (No Effect Level) is 0.2 mg/m³ for P(AA-MA)70,000 and 1.0 mg/m³ for P(AA)4,500 (Procter and Gamble, 1991).

8.3.2 Oral

Groups of 6 male Wistar rats were exposed for 28 d to 2.5% P(AA)2,500 (active ingredient of a 50% neutralised solution) in the diet to examine the effect upon body mineral status. Growth, weight and appearance of the animals were normal throughout this study. At week 4, a small but significant decrease in the total weight of minerals in the bones was observed, which was confirmed by radiographic and histological examination, and the concentration of magnesium in the bones and plasma was significantly decreased; calcium loss was slight but not statistically significant.

Urinary excretion of sodium and phosphorus was markedly increased and excretion of calcium was slightly increased. It was considered that these effects observed were probably caused by a metabolic or nutritional mechanism rather than a toxic one which may be connected with the large amount of sodium fed to the animals as a result of neutralisation of the P(AA)2,500 (Unilever, 1990).

P(AA-MA)70,000 was administered to 10 male and 10 females Wistar rats for 90 d in drinking water at dose levels of 1,000, 4,000 or 16,000 ppm of test substance, the top dose being equivalent to 1,000 mg/kgbw/d for males and 2,216 mg/kgbw/d for females. Prior to administration and towards the end of the study ophthalmoscopy on the control and high dose groups was undertaken. In week 6 and towards the end of the study clinical chemistry and urine estimations were made. Macroscopic and histopathological examinations were made. In the high dose group receiving 16,000 ppm increased water consumption was observed in both sexes, this being more pronounced in females. No other test substance related changes were observed. The NEL in this study was 16,000 ppm equivalent to > 1,000 mg/kgbw/d (BASF, 1992h).

8.3.3 Dermal

P(AA-MA)70,000 has been examined in a 28-d rabbit dermal study. Groups of 15 male and 15 female rabbits received 10, 25 or 50% solutions of the test substance on to abraded skin. In the high dose group, slight erythema was seen commencing after day 4 persisting until the end of the study. In the middle dose group slight erythema was observed but this occurred in only 3 animals commencing in the third week and persisting until the end of the study. No evidence of skin irritation was observed in the control or low dose groups. No changes in body weight gain were observed in any of the treatment groups when compared with the concurrent control group and none of the animals showed abnormal clinical signs or adverse changes when subjected to haematological, pathological or histopathological examinations. The NOEL was a 10% solution of P(AA-MA)70,000 (BASF, 1992h).

8.4 GENOTOXICITY (Table 8)

None of the P(AA)s or P(AA-MA)s has shown any evidence of mutagenic potential in studies using a variety of genetic end points. Evidence of cell damage was noted in a number of the experiments involving mammalian cells and this may have interfered with the interpretation of results.

8.4.1 Gene Mutation In Vitro

Gene Mutation in Bacteria: Ames Salmonella Test

Thompson *et al* (1989) have tested neutralised samples of aqueous solutions containing 45-54% P(AA)2,000, P(AA)4,500 and P(AA-MA)12,000 in a plate incorporation protocol using *Salmonella typhimurium* strains TA1535, TA1537, TA1538, TA98 and TA100 with and without rat liver S9 mix. No evidence of toxicity or of mutation was observed at test substance concentrations up to 10 mg/plate, this being higher than the maximum dose recommended by the OECD.

P(AA-MA)70,000 has also been examined in a standard 5-strain plate incorporation assay in a dose range 20-5,000 μg/plate. No evidence of mutagenic potential was observed (BASF, 1992h).

Gene Mutation in Mammalian Cells

Mouse Lymphoma

Thompson *et al* (1989) have tested neutralised samples of aqueous solutions containing 45-54% P(AA)2,000, P(AA)4,500 and P(AA-MA)12,000 in a mammalian cell gene mutation assay using mouse lymphoma L5178YTK+/- cells. The assay was performed according to standard procedures of Clive and Spector (1975) and Clive *et al* (1979). Each substance was tested in the presence and absence of S9 mix on 1 occasion only. When tested in the absence of S9, cell growth was reduced to 34, 76 and 17% at concentrations of 37, 75 and 50 μl/ml respectively with P(AA)2,000, P(AA)4,500 and P(AA-MA)12,000. No increases in mutation frequency were observed. In the presence of S9, cell growth was reduced to 18, 37 and 12% at concentrations of 28, 32 and 32 μl/ml for the same 3 samples described above. Again no increases in mutation frequency were observed.

Chinese Hamster Ovary Cells

P(AA-MA)70,000 has been examined in a mammalian cell gene mutation assay using CHO cells (BASF, 1992h). The test was conducted in the presence and absence of S9 mix, using dose levels ranging from 0.01 μg/ml to 10 mg/ml. Although some increases in the number of mutant colonies were observed these were not clearly dose related and were considered to be due to other effects such as calcium chelation, cytotoxicity and precipitation out of solution of the test substance. It was concluded that P(AA-MA)70,000 was not mutagenic in this assay (BASF, 1992h).

Chromosome Aberrations in Cultured Mammallan Cells

Neutralised aqueous solutions containing 45-54% P(AA)4,500 and P(AA-MA)12,000 have been tested for clastogenic activity using CHO cells. Cells were treated for 4 hours in the presence and absence of S9 mix followed by 16 hours in compound-free medium. Both compounds were tested at concentrations up to 77 μl/ml in the presence and absence of S9 mix. Single cultures were used. No increases in chromosome aberrations were detected with either substance. More toxicity was observed at the higher concentrations with the copolymer than with P(AA)4,500 (Thompson *et al*, 1989).

Unscheduled DNA Synthesis: Primary Rat Hepatocytes

Neutralised aqueous solutions containing 45-54% P(AA)2,000, P(AA)4,500 and P(AA-MA)12,000 have been tested for induction of UDS (Unscheduled DNA Synthesis) in primary rat hepatocytes following the methods described by Williams *et al* (1977). P(AA)2,000 was tested to a maximum concentration of 5 μ l/ml, P(AA)4,500 to a maximum of 20 μ l/ml and P(AA-MA)12,000 to a maximum of 4 μ l/ml. All 3 test substances showed appreciable toxicity at the highest concentrations tested. No evidence of UDS was observed (Thompson *et al*, 1989).

P(AA-MA)70,000 was also tested in an UDS assay using primary rat hepatocytes with the highest concentration being 10 μ l/ml. This caused appreciable and erratic toxicity at concentrations down to 1 μ l/ml. No evidence of UDS activity was obtained in this experiment (BASF, 1992h).

8.4.2 Gene Mutation In Vivo

Micronucleus Test

P(AA)2,000 has been tested in a mouse micronucleus assay using groups of 5 male and 5 females. Animals were dosed by gavage with the maximum tolerated dose (13.85 g/kgbw) and observed over a 3 d period. Animals were killed at 24, 48 or 72 h after dosing and 1,000 cells per animal examined for micronuclei in polychromatic erythrocytes and also for the ratio for polychromatic to normochromatic erythrocytes. During the experiment 3 females died, 1 at each of the harvest times. No increase in micronucleus induction was observed, neither was there any marked reduction in the ratio of polychromatic to normochromatic erythrocytes (Thompson *et al*, 1989).

Chromosome Aberrations

P(AA-MA)70,000 has been tested for chromosome aberrations in the bone marrow of male and female Chinese hamsters following a single i.p. injection of 200, 600 and 1,780 mg/kgbw. Animals from the high dose group were killed and bone marrow examined at 6, 24 or 48 h after dosing. Animals from the other dose groups were killed only at 24 h. No increases in chromosomal aberrations were observed (BASF, 1992h).

8.5 CHRONIC TOXICITY AND CARCINOGENICITY

No data are available for evaluation.

8.6 REPRODUCTION, EMBRYOTOXICITY, TERATOGENICITY

None of the P(AA)s or P(AA-MA)s tested had any detrimental effects on reproductive performance of the rat.

P(AA)4,500 was tested in a rat teratogenicity study in which the compound was administered by gavage on days 6-15 of pregnancy at dose levels of 500, 1,000 and 3,000 mg/kgbw/d. No treatment related effects on foetal development or on pregnancy were noted. The NEL was 3,000 mg/kgbw/d (Nolen *et al.*, 1989).

Using a similar protocol, P(AA)90,000 a was administered at dose levels of 125, 375 and 1,125 mg/kgbw/d. In the high dose group 3 treatment-related deaths occurred but there were no adverse effects on developmental toxicity or pregnancy rate. The foetuses from the treated groups were slightly larger than the controls but this was considered to be of no special biological significance. No treatment-related differences in either soft tissue or skeletal abnormalities were seen (Nolen et al, 1989).

P(AA-MA)12,000 was administered to rats by gavage at dose levels of 67, 667 and 6,670 mg/kgbw/d during days 6-15 of gestation. There were no deaths in the high-dose group but in the low dose group there were 8 malformed foetuses all from 1 litter and all with short thickened bodies with numerous malformations. Animals from the other 23 litters in this test group were perfectly normal and showed no irregularities whatsoever. This singular finding was therefore not considered to be treatment-related (Nolen *et al*, 1989).

SECTION 9. EFFECTS ON MAN

There is very little information on the effects of polycarboxylates in man.

9.1 IRRITATION AND SENSITISATION

A group of 50 volunteers were subjected to a 48 h occluded patch test with a 15% aqueous solution of sodium P(AA) (MW not stated). No evidence of irritation was observed in any of these subjects. Two weeks after the initial 48 h patch test, the same group of volunteers was challenged with the same material. No evidence of sensitisation (erythema or oedema) was observed (Finnegan and Dienna, 1953).

A group of 25 human volunteers were nylon squares, washed with polycarboxylate containing detergent, as occluded patches for 48 h. No evidence of irritation was present at the end of this period or following rechallenge for a further 48 h period 12 days later (Rohm and Haas, 1951).

SECTION 10. FIRST AID AND SAFE HANDLING ADVICE

10.1 FIRST AID AND SAFE HANDLING

Polycarboxylates of the type used in detergents are of low toxicity and do not pose any risk to human health under normal conditions of handling and use. General measures used in industrial practice and personel hygiene for non-dangerous materials are appropriate for the safe handling of polycarboxylates. In cases of exceptional exposure these measures may include skin protection and dust respirators.

In the case of contact with eyes, irrigate with water for 10 min, and seek medical advice if there are presistent symptoms.

Following skin contact, wash the affected area with water and launder contaminated clothing.

10.2 SPILLAGE AND WASTE DISPOSAL

10.2.1 Spillage

Keep dust to a minimum. Wear respirator for dust encountered. Any spilled dry material or solutions should be diked and contained with inert material such as sand or earth. Scoop or shovel solid material into a separate container for recovery or disposal. Keep spilled material out of municipal sewers and open bodies of water.

Thoroughly launder clothing before re-use; do not take contaminated clothing home.

10.2.2 Waste Disposal

Waste containing polycarboxylates should be disposed of in accordance with local, regional, national and EEC regulations.

APPENDIX A. SPECIAL ABBREVIATIONS

AA - Acrylic Acid

ADME - Absorption, Distribution and Metabolism

BOD - Biological Oxygen Demand, e.g. after 5 d: BOD₅.

BU assay - Buehler assay (sensitisation)

C - Carbon

CAS - US Chemical Abstracts Service

COD - Chemical Oxygen Demand
DOC - Dissolved Organic Carbon

DSS - Dry Suspended Solids

EC - Effect Concentration, e.g 48h-EC₅₀: median EC at which 50% of organisms is

affected following 48 h exposure; with Daphnia, the effect is mobility)

EINECS - European Inventory of Existing Commercial Chemical Substances

LC - Lethal Concentration, e.g. 96h LC₅₀: median LC at which 50% of organisms die

following exposure for 96 h

LD - Lethal Dose, e.g. LD₅₀: similar to LC

MA - Maleic Anhydride

MBAS - Methylene-Blue Active Substances

M&K assay - Magnusson and Kligman guinea pig maximisation test (sensitisation)

MW - Molar mass (Molecular Weight)

NEL - No Effect Level

NOAEL - No Observed Adverse Effect Level

NOEC - No Observed Effect Concentration

P(AA) - Polyacrylic Acid, with suffix indicating MW

P(AA-MA) - CoPolymer of Acrylic Acid and Maleic Anhydride, with MW suffix

P(AA-P) - Phosphinated PolyAcrylic Acid, with MW suffix

PCAs - PolyCarboxylic Acids

P_{ow} - *n*-Octanol/water Partition coefficient SCAS - Semi-Continuous Activated Sludge

STP - Sewage Treatment Plant
SVI - Sludge Volume Index

ThOD - Theoretical Oxygen Demand

TLV - Threshold Limit Value (standard for occupational exposure to airborne

concentrations of a substance)

TSS - Total Suspended Solids

UDS - Unscheduled DNA Synthesis

APPENDIX B. CALCULATION METHOD FOR ENVIRONMENTAL LEVELS

The polycarboxylate levels in different environmental compartments mentioned in Section 5.1. were calculated according to the following procedure. It is assumed that polycarboxylate containing detergents are equally distributed in the considered area and completely discharged into waste water. This assumption is valid to a great extent in West Germany, for which a calculation example was carried out previously (Fachgruppe Wasserchemie, 1990).

Concentrations in raw waste water (C_{rww}) were derived from the following equation:

$$C_{rww}$$
 [mg/l] = $\frac{Polycarboxylate\ consumption\ [g/inh/y] \times 10^3}{Sewage\ flow\ [l/inh/d] \times 365}$

For a conservative calculation of P(AA-MA)70,000 concentrations in raw sewage, a per capita consumption of 300 g PCA/y and a sewage flow of 200 l/inh/d is assumed.

Effluent waste water concentrations (C_{eww}) can be calculated according to the following equations, depending on the different types of waste water treatment:

$$C_{\text{eww/mech-biol}}$$
 [mg/I] = $C_{\text{rww}} \times (1 - R_{\text{mech-biol}})$

$$C_{eww/sept}$$
 [mg/l] = $C_{rww} \times (1-R_{sept})$

R_{mech, biol, sept}:

fraction of polycarboxylates removed in mechanical, or mechanical-biological waste water treatment, or in septic tanks. The respective figures are given in Table B.1.

In this context, physico-chemical waste water treatment (mainly for phosphate elimination) is not taken into account because it increases the removal of P(AA-MA)70,000 only marginally. The removal figures are mentioned in Chapter 4; mechanical treatment: result of dynamic settling test, on average 30% (Section 4.2.1.), biological treatment: result of mass-balance study, on average 93% (Section 4.2.2), septic tank removal: sedimentation after 96 h (Section 4.2.1.).

Process	Average extent of removal (R x 100%)
Mechanical/biological	93
Mechanical	30
Septic tank	84

Table B.1: Removal of P(AA-MA)70,000 In Waste-Water Treatment Processes

Further downstream, effluent waste water is increasingly diluted with river water. The dilution factors vary with seasonal fluctuations and depend on the conditions of a specific discharge site. For the estimation of polycarboxylate levels in surface waters, a standard dilution factor of 1:10 is used; elimination in the river, e.g. by adsorption of settled sediments, is not considered.

The elimination of polycarboxylates during drinking water preparation from river water is estimated by assuming 90% removal. This was measured as a minimum removal in flocculation experiments of raw drinking water with AlCl₃ and FeCl₃ and in lysimeter studies with sand and an artificial groundwater when considering this as a simulation for bank filtration (Section 4.3).

The amount of polycarboxylates adsorbed onto digested sewage sludge (C_{dsi}) is estimated by the overall removal in activated sludge treatment.

$$C_{dsl}$$
 [g/kg] =
$$\frac{C_{rww} [g/m^3] \times R_{biol}}{F [kg/m^3]}$$

with F: ratio of the amount of sewage sludge/sewage flow; 1 m³ raw waste water after biological treatment and digestion produces 0.2 kg sewage sludge (dry matter): 0.2 kg/m³.

Maximum possible sludge-treated soil concentrations (C_{soil}) are estimated with the following equation.

$$C_{soil} [g/t/y] = \frac{C_{dsl} \times F_1 \times 10^3 [kg/t]}{F_2 \times F_3 \times 10^4 [m^2/ha]}$$

Two calculations were made with different assumptions:

a. Fachgruppe Wasserchemie (1990)

F₁: Sludge disposal factor (t/ha/y); 5/3 = 1.7 (t/ha/y); according to the German Sludge Disposal Decree of 25.06.1982 a maximum of 5 t digested sewage sludge may be disposed onto 1 ha of agricultural soil within 3 y

F₂: Soil density; 0.88 - 1.85 t/m³

F₃: Agricultural soil depth; 0.3 m

b. Chiaudani and Poltronieri (1990):

F₁: Sludge disposal factor, 0.2 (t/ha/y)

F₂: Soil density, 0.88-1.85 t/m³

F₃: Agricultural soil depth, 0.1 m

BIBLIOGRAPHY

Abe, Y., Matsumura, S., Yajima, H., Suzuki, R. and Masago, Y. (1984). Organic builders XVI, biodegradabilities of the oligomers. Yukagaku 33, 228-232 [Japanese].

Angenend, F.J. and Schulte-Wieschen, U. (1979). Ein Beitrag zur Bestimmung von Polycarbonsaeuren in Kuehlwaessern und Abwaessern von Kraftwerken. VGB Kraftwerkstechnik 59, 995-997.

Armstrong and Strauss (1969). Polyelectrolytes. In: Encyclopedia of polymer science and technology. John Wiley, Chichester, 10, 781-861.

BASF (1991a). DIN-Sicherheitsdatenblatt. Sokalan® PA 13 PN. BASF, Ludwigshafen.

BASF (1991b). DIN-Sicherheitsdatenblatt. Sokalan® PA 15. BASF, Ludwigshafen.

BASF (1991c). DIN-Sicherheitsdatenblatt. Sokalan® PA 15 CL. BASF, Ludwigshafen.

BASF (1991d). DIN-Sicherheitsdatenblatt. Sokalan® PA 20. BASF, Ludwigshafen.

BASF (1991e). DIN-Sicherheitsdatenblatt. Sokalan® PA 25 PN. BASF, Ludwigshafen.

BASF (1991f). DIN-Sicherheitsdatenblatt. Sokalan® PA 25 PN Granulat. BASF, Ludwigshafen.

BASF (1991g). DIN-Sicherheitsdatenblatt. Sokalan® PA 30 CL. BASF, Ludwigshafen.

BASF (1991h). DIN-Sicherheitsdatenblatt. Sokalan® PA 30 CL Granulat. BASF, Ludwigshafen.

BASF (1991i). DIN-Sicherheitsdatenblatt. Sokalan® PA 40. BASF, Ludwigshafen.

BASF (1991j). DIN-Sicherheitsdatenblatt. Sokalan® PA 50. BASF, Ludwigshafen.

BASF (1991k). DIN-Sicherheitsdatenblatt. Sokalan® PA 70 PN. BASF, Ludwigshafen.

BASF (1991I). DIN-Sicherheitsdatenblatt. Sokalan® PA 80 S. BASF, Ludwigshafen.

BASF (1991m). DIN-Sicherheitsdatenblatt. Sokalan® PA 110 S. BASF, Ludwigshafen.

BASF (1991n). DIN-Sicherheitsdatenblatt. Sokalan® CP 45. BASF, Ludwigshafen.

BASF (1991o). DIN-Sicherheitsdatenblatt. Sokalan® CP 45 Granulat. BASF, Ludwigshafen.

BASF (1991p). DIN-Sicherheitsdatenblatt. Sokalan® CP 45 Pulver. BASF, Ludwigshafen.

BASF (1991q). DIN-Sicherheitsdatenblatt. Sokalan® CP 5. BASF, Ludwigshafen.

BASF (1991r). DIN-Sicherheitsdatenblatt. Sokalan® CP 5 Granulat. BASF, Ludwigshafen.

BASF (1991s). DIN-Sicherheitsdatenblatt. Sokalan® CP 5 Pulver. BASF, Ludwigshafen.

BASF (1991t). DIN-Sicherheitsdatenblatt. Sokalan® CP 7. BASF, Ludwigshafen.

BASF (1991u). DIN-Sicherheitsdatenblatt. Sokalan® CP 7 Granulat. BASF, Ludwigshafen.

BASF (1991v). DIN-Sicherheitsdatenblatt. Sokalan® CP 7 Pulver. BASF, Ludwigshafen.

BASF (1992a). Personal communication by H.J. Opgenorth, 16 June 1992. Monomer content of polycarboxylates used in detergents. BASF, Ludwigshafen.

BASF (1992b). Personal communication by H.J. Opgenorth, 16 June 1992. Chemical reactivity and stability of polycarboxylates. BASF, Ludwigshafen.

BASF (1992c). Personal communication by H.J. Opgenorth, 16 June 1992 based on an unpublished report. Behaviour of P(AA-MA)70,000 in the digester. BASF, Ludwigshafen.

BASF (1992d). Personal communication by H.J. Opgenorth, 30 June 1992 based on an unpublished report. Settleability of P(AA-MA)70,000 in raw sewage. BASF, Ludwigshafen.

BASF (1992e). Personal communication by H.J. Opgenorth, 20 June 1992 based on an unpublished report. P(AA-MA)70,000: Toxicity against sludge bacteria. BASF, Ludwigshafen.

BASF (1992f). Personal communication by H.J. Opgenorth, 16 June 1992 based on an unpublished report. P(AA-MA)70,000: Inhibition test with luminescent bacteria. BASF, Ludwigshafen.

BASF (1992g). Personal communication by H.J. Opgenorth, 14 August 1992 based on unpublished reports. Summary of data on the acute oral toxicity, skin- and eyeirritation of polycarboxylates, P(AA) and P(AA-MA). BASF, Ludwigshafen.

BASF (1992h). Personal communication by H.J. Opgenorth, 14 August 1992 based on unpublished reports. Toxicological investigations on the polycarboxylate P(AA-MA)70,000. BASF, Ludwigshafen.

BIBRA (The British Industrial Biological Research Association) (1987). Toxicity profile, polyacrylic acid and its sodium salt. BIBRA, Carshalton, Surrey. Chiaudani, G. and Poltronieri, P. (1990). Study on the environmental compatibility of polycarboxylates used in detergent formulations. Ingegneria Ambientale 11, 5-43.

Clive, D. and Spector, J.F.S. (1975). Laboratory procedure for assessing specific locus mutations at the TK locus in cultured L5178Y mouse lymphoma cells. Mutat. Res. 31, 17-29.

Clive, D., Johnson, K.O., Spector, J.F.S., Batson, A.G. and Brown, M.M.M. (1979). Validation and characterization of the L5178Y/TK +/- mouse lymphoma mutagen assay system. Mutat. Res. 59, 61-108.

Degussa (1985). Degapas 4104 N, Bestimmung der Fischtoxizitaet an Goldorfen (LC_{so}). Personal communication by E.Roth, 12.4.1985, with appendix: Adema, D.M.M. (1985). The acute toxicity of Degapas 4104 N (30%) to *Leuciscus idus* (L.) (Goldorfe), TNO report R85/073. Unpublished report US-IT-Nr 85-0039-DKO. Degussa, Hanau.

Degussa (1983a). Bericht ueber die toxikologische Pruefung von Degapas 4104 N nach einmaliger oraler Gabe an der Ratte. Unpublished report US-IT-Nr 83-0050-DKT. Degussa, Hanau.

Degussa (1983b). Bericht ueber die Pruefung der lokalen Reizwirkung von Degapas 4104 N nach einmaliger Applikation an der Haut des Kaninchens (Patch-Test). Unpublished report US-IT-Nr 83-0051-DKT. Degussa, Hanau.

Degussa (1983c). Bericht ueber die Pruefung der Schleimhautreizenden Wirkung von Degapas 4104 N nach einmaliger Applikation am Auge des Kaninchens. Unpublished report US-IT-Nr 83-0052-DKT. Degussa, Hanau.

Degussa (1983d). Bericht ueber die toxikologische Pruefung von Degapas 4104 S nach einmaliger oraler Gabe an der Ratte. Unpublished report US-IT-Nr 83-0053-DKT. Degussa, Hanau.

Degussa (1983e). Bericht ueber die Pruefung der lokalen Reizwirkung von Degapas 4104 S nach einmaliger Applikation an der Haut des Kaninchens (Patch-Test). Unpublished report US-IT-Nr 83-0054-DKT. Degussa, Hanau.

Degussa (1983f). Bericht ueber die Pruefung der Schleimhautreizenden Wirkung von Degapas 4104 S nach einmaliger Applikation am Auge des Kaninchens. Unpublished report US-IT-Nr 83-0055-DKT. Degussa, Hanau.

Degussa (1991). DIN-safety data sheet Degapas 4104 N solution by 40% weight. Degussa, Hanau, 1-3.

DFG (Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft) (1991). Maximale Arbeitsplatzkonzentrationen und Biologische Arbeitsstofftoleranzwerte 1991. Mitteilung XXVI der Senatskommission zur Pruefung gesund-heitsschaedlicher Arbeitsstoffe. VCH, Weinheim, 97.

Fachgruppe Wasserchemie (1990). Stellungnahme zur Umweltvertraeglichkeit von Polycarboxylaten. Gesellschaft Deutscher Chemiker, Muenchen.

Finnegan, J.K. and Dienna, J.B. (1953). Proc. Scient. Sect. Toilet Goods Ass., 20-16. In: BIBRA Toxicity Profile (1987). Polyacrylic acid and its sodium salt.

Guy, R.H. and Hadgraft, J. (1987). Transdermal delivery of drugs. Vol. 3. CRC Press Inc. Eds. Kydonieus and Berner, 4-22.

Hach (1984). Polyacrylic acid (pAA) test and polyacrylic acid or polyacrylates analysis. Hach World, Loveland, CO.

Henkel (1990). Experimental toxicology of Degapas 4104. Personal communication by J. Steber to M. Richold, 25.04.90. Henkel, Duesseldorf, D.

Henkel Laboratory (1987). Ecological data, polyacrylic acid (PAA), MW 78,000 (revised summary 2/4/92). Degussa, Hanau.

Hennes, E.C. (1991). Fate and effects of polycarboxylates in the environment. Procter & Gamble, Strombeek-Bever, B.

Hunter, M., Da Motta Marques, D.M.L., Lester, J.N. and Perry, R. (1987). A review of the behaviour and utilization of polycarboxylic acids as detergent builders. Environ. Technol. Lett. 9, 1-22.

Jakobi, G. (1984). Wasserloesliche Polymere als Waschmittelinhaltstoffe. Die angewandte Makromolekulare Chemie 123/124, 119-145.

Jekel, M. and Sontheimer, H. (1981). Die Faellung von Polyacrylsaeure mit Aluminium- und Eisensalzen und ihr Einfluss auf die Flockung von Truebstoffen. Vom Wasser, Band 56, Verlag-Chemie, Weinheim, 171-182.

Jung, D., Penzel, E. and Wenzel, F. (1980). Polyacrylund Polymethacryl-Verbindungen. In: Ullmanns Encyklopaedie der technischen Chemie (4th ed.). Verlag Chemie, Weinheim, 1911-7.

Lehmann, H.J. (1973). Moderne Waschmittel. Chemie in unserer Zeit 7, 82-89.

McGrew, G.T. (1986). Polymers play an important role in cleaning formulations. HAPPI, 66-72.

Metcalf and Eddy (1979). Primary sedimentation tanks. In: Wastewater engineering: treatment, disposal reuse, 2nd ed. McGraw-Hill, New York, US, p. 336.

Metzner, V.G. and Naegerl, H.D. (1982). Umweltverhalten zweier Wasserkonditionierungsmittel auf Phosphonat und Polyacrylatbasis. Tenside Detergents, 19, 23-29.

National Starch and Chemical (1987c). Narlex MA 140, P(AA-MA)20,000, safety data sheet for national speciality polymers. National Starch and Chemical (Unilever), Braunston, Daventry, Northants.

National Starch and Chemical (1987a). Narlex LD-31, P(AA)3,500, safety data sheet for national speciality polymers. National Starch and Chemical (Unilever), Braunston, Daventry, Northants.

National Starch and Chemical (1987b). Narlex MA 140, P(AA-MA)20,000, tentative data sheet. National Starch and Chemical (Unilever), Braunston, Daventry, Northants.

National Starch and Chemical (1987d). Narlex MA 340, P(AA-MA)30,000, tentative data sheet. National Starch and Chemical (Unilever), Braunston, Daventry, Northants.

National Starch and Chemical (1987e). Narlex MA 340, P(AA-MA)30,000, safety data sheet for national speciality polymers. National Starch and Chemical (Unilever), Braunston, Daventry, Northants.

Nestler, C.H. (1968). Adsorption and electrophoretic studies of poly(acrylic acid) on calcium sulfate. J. Colloid Interface Sc. 26, 10-18.

Nolen, G.A., Monroe, A., Hassall, C.D., lavicoli, J., Jamieson, R.A. and Daston, G.P. (1989). Studies of the developmental toxicity of polycarboxylate dispersing agents. Drug and Chem. Tox. 12, 95-110.

NorsoHaas (1989a). Norasol SP-02N, P(AA), product safety data sheet. NorsoHaas, Verneuil en Halatte, F.

NorsoHaas (1989b). Norasol LMW-45ND, P(AA), product safety data sheet. NorsoHaas, Verneuil en Halatte, F.

NorsoHaas (1989c). Norasol QR-784, P(AA), product safety data sheet. NorsoHaas, Verneuil en Halatte, F.

NorsoHaas (1989d). Norasol LMW-45N, P(AA), product safety data sheet. NorsoHaas, Verneuil en Halatte, F.

NorsoHaas (1989e). Norasol LMW-45, P(AA), product safety data sheet. NorsoHaas, Verneuil en Halatte, F.

OECD (1981). Guideline for testing of chemicals, Partition coefficient (*n*-octanol/water), 12 May 1981. OECD, Paris.

Opgenorth, H.J. (1987). Umweltvertraeglichkeit von Polycarboxylaten. Tenside Detergents 24, 366-369.

Opgenorth, H.J. (1989). Polycarboxylate in Abwasser und Klaerschlamm. In: Muenchener Beitraege zur Abwasser-, Fischerei- und Flußbiologie, Vol. 44, Umweltvertraeglichkeit von Wasch- und Reinigungsmitteln. Oldenburg, Muenchen, 338-351.

Opgenorth, H.J. (1992). Polymeric materials polycarboxylates. In: Hutzinger, O. (ed), Handbook of environmental chemistry, vol. 3, part F, 'Detergent Chemicals'. Springer, Berlin, 337-350.

Procter and Gamble (1982). Sodium polyacrylate. Industrial hygiene data sheet. Procter and Gamble, Strombeek-Bever, B.

Procter and Gamble (1983). Maleic/acrylic acid copolymer, industrial hygiene data sheet. Procter & Gamble, Strombeek-Bever, B.

Procter and Gamble (1991). Summary of 91-day inhalation toxicity (rats). Personal communication by J. David Innis, Dec. 16, 1991 based on an unpublished report. Procter & Gamble, Cincinnati, OH.

Rohm and Haas (1951). Report on studies for skin irritation and sensitization by Acrysol A-1. Rohm and Haas, Philadelphia, PA.

Rohm and Haas (1974). OSHA toxicity screening tests. Rohm and Haas, Spring House, PA.

Rohm and Haas (1982a). Toxicity report, acute oral, dermal, skin and eye, range finding report. Rohm and Haas, Spring House, PA.

Rohm and Haas (1982b). Toxicity report, acute oral, dermal, skin and eye, range finding report. Rohm and Haas, Spring House, PA.

Rohm and Haas (1983a). Acute toxicity of Acrysol LMW-10NX to bluegill sunfish (*Lepomis macrochirus*), final static bioassay report. ABC (Analytical Bio-Chemistry Laboratories). Rohm and Haas, Spring House, PA.

Rohm and Haas (1983b). Acute toxicity of Acrysol LMW-10NX to rainbow trout (*Salmo gairdneri*), final static bioassay report. ABC (Analytical Bio-Chemistry Laboratories). Rohm and Haas, Spring House, PA.

Rohm and Haas (1983c). Acute toxicity of Acrysol LMW-45NX to rainbow trout (*Salmo gairdneri*), final static bioassay report. ABC (Analytical Bio-Chemistry Laboratories). Rohm and Haas, Spring House, PA.

Rohm and Haas (1983d). Acute toxicity of Acrysol LMW-45NX to bluegill sunfish (*Lepomis macrochirus*), final static bioassay report. ABC (Analytical Bio-Chemistry Laboratories). Rohm and Haas, Spring House, PA.

Rohm and Haas (1983e). Acute toxicity of Acrysol LMW-10NX to *Daphnia magna*, final static bioassay report. ABC (Analytical Bio-Chemistry Laboratories). Rohm and Haas, Spring House, PA.

Rohm and Haas (1983f). Acute toxicity of Acrysol LMW-45NX to *Daphnia magna*, final static bioassay report. ABC (Analytical Bio-Chemistry Laboratories). Rohm and Haas, Spring House, PA.

Rohm and Haas (1988a). Acrysol SP-02 N, skin irritation. Bio-Tox. Rohm and Haas, Spring House, PA.

Rohm and Haas (1988b). Acrysol SP-02 N, skin sensitization, Magnusson-Kligmann. Bio-Tox. Rohm and Haas, Spring House, PA.

Rohm and Haas (1991a). Early life stage toxicity of AcusolTM 445N to the fathead minnow, *Pimephales promelas*. Envirosystems. Rohm and Haas, Spring House, PA.

Rohm and Haas (1991b). Acute toxicity of AcusolTM 445N to the earthworm, *Eisenia foetida foetida*. Envirosystems. Rohm and Haas, Spring House, PA.

Rohm and Haas (1991c). Chronic toxicity of AcusoITM 445N to the daphnid, *Daphnia magna*. Rohm and Haas, Spring House, PA.

Rohm and Haas (1991d). Assessing the removal of Acrysol LMW-45N during secondary wastewater treatment. Roy Weston. Rohm and Haas, Spring House, PA.

Schefer, W. (1982). Umweltbelastung durch Waschprozesse der Textilindustrie. Textilveredlung 17, 541-544.

Schefer, W. and Romanin, K. (1988). Gewaesserbelastung durch wasserloesliche Polymere. Textilveredlung 23, 340-344.

Schroeder, U., Horn, D. and Wassmer, K.H. (1991). Bestimmung von Polycarboxylaten mit Hilfe der Polyelektrolyt-Titration in Wasserproben. Seifen, Oele, Fette, Wachse 117, 311-314.

Schumann, H. (1990). Elimination von ¹⁴C-markierten Polyelektrolyten in biologischen Laborreaktoren. Fortschritt-VDI Berichte, Reihe 15: Umwelttechnik 81. VDI, Duesseldorf, 1-190.

Thompson, E.D., Aardema, M.J. and LeBoeuf, R.A. (1989). Lack of genotoxicity with acrylate polymers in five short-term mutagenicity assays. Environ. Mol. Mutag. 14, 98-106.

UK Department of the Environment (1991). Pollutants in cleaning agents, final report, prepared by Consultants in Environment Sciences. DOE, London.

Unilever (1989). Personal communication by P.A. Gilbert to E.C. Hennes concerning ASSOCASA review on polymers. Unilever, LDC, Port Sunlight, UK.

Unilever (1990). Summaries of toxicity studies: the mineral status of rats fed polyanions for 4 weeks, rep. PES 88 1031; absorption and metabolism of polyacrylic acid phosphinate [14C] DKW 125 in the rat, rep. AM 85.04. Unilever, Environmental Safety, Sharnbrook, Bedford, UK.

Veith, G.D. and Kosian, P. (1988). Estimating bioconcentration potential from octanol/water partition coefficients. In: Clements, R.G. (ed.): Reference manual for quantitative structure activity relationships (QSAR's) and other useful relationships used in PMN assessment. Environmental Effects Branch, US EPA.

Wassmer, K.H., Schroeder, U. and Horn, D. (1991). Characterization and detection of polyanions by direct polyelectrolyte titration. Makromol. Chem. 192, 553-565.

Williams, G.M., Bermudez, E. and Scaramuzzino, D. (1977). Rat hepatocyte primary cultures, III: Improved dissociation and attachment techniques and enhancements of survival by culture medium. *In Vitro* 13, 809-817.

Yeoman, S., Lester, J.N. and Perry, R. (1990). The partitioning of polycarboxylic acids in activated sludge. Chemosphere 21, 443-450.

Ziegler, M. (1985). Untersuchungen zur biologischen Abbaubarkeit von Phosphatersatzstoffen im Rahmen einer Umweltvertraeglichkeitspruefung. Diplomarbeit Technische Universitaet Berlin, 73 p.

Zitko, V. (1981). Uptake and excretion of chemicals by aquatic fauna. In: P.M. Stokes (ed.): Ecotoxicology and the aquatic environment. Pergamon Press, New York, 67-68.

MEMBERS OF THE TASK FORCE

J. STEBER (Chairman) HENKEL

D - Düsseldorf

E. C. HENNES-MORGAN PROCTER AND GAMBLE

B - Brussels

A. LOMBARD ELF ATOCHÉM

F - Paris

W. MAYR¹ DEGUSSA

D - Hanau

H. J. OPGENORTH BASF

D - Ludwigshafen

M. RICHOLD UNILEVER

GB - Bedford

M. WOODER ROHM AND HAAS

GB - Croydon

H. VRIJHOF (Secretary) ECETOC

B - Brussels

MEMBERS OF THE SCIENTIFIC COMMITTEE (Peer Review Committee)

W. F. TORDOIR	(Chairman).	Head.	Occupational	SHELL

Health and Toxicology Division NL - Den Haag

H. VERSCHUUREN (Vice-Chairman), Head, DOW EUROPE Toxicology Department CH - Horgen

O. C. BØCKMAN, Scientific Advisor

NORSK HYDRO

N - Porsgrunn

N. G. CARMICHAEL, Toxicology Director Worldwide RHÔNE-POULENC

F - Lyon

H. DE HENAU, European Technical Centre, PROCTER AND GAMBLE

Professional and Regulatory Services B - Brussels

A. DE MORSIER, Head, Ecotoxicology CIBA-GEIGY

CH - Basel

P. A. GILBERT¹, Head, Environmental Relations UNILEVER

GB - Port Sunlight

I. J. GRAHAM-BRYCE, Head, Environmental Affairs SHELL

NL - Den Haag

B. HILDEBRAND, Director, Experimental Toxicology BASF AG

D - Ludwigshafen

J. R. JACKSON, Director, Medicine and Health MONSANTO EUROPE

Science

K. KŪNSTLER¹, Head, Biological Research HENKEL

D - Düsseldorf

H. LAGAST, Chief Medical Officer SOLVAY

B - Brussels

B - Brussels

E. LÖSER¹, Head, Institute of Industrial Toxicology BAYER

D - Wuppertal

R. MILLISCHER, Chief Toxicologist ELF ATOCHEM

F - Paris

I. F. H. PURCHASE, Director, Central Toxicology ZENECA

Laboratory

GB - Macclesfield

Stewards responsible for primary peer review

LIST OF ECETOC PUBLICATIONS (continued inside back cover)

MONOGRAPHS

No.	Title
No. 1	Good Laboratory Practice
No. 2	Contribution to Strategy for Identification and Control of Occupational Carcinogens
No. 2	Definition of a Mutagen, for 6th Amendment
No. 3	Risk Assessment of Occupational Chemical Carcinogens
No. 4	Hepatocarcinogenesis in Laboratory Rodents : Relevance for Man
No. 5	Identification and Assessment of the Effects of Chemicals on Reproduction and Development (Reproductive Toxicology)
No. 6	Acute Toxicity Tests, LD ₅₀ (LC ₅₀) Determinations and Alternatives
No. 7	Recommendations for the Harmonisation of International Guidelines for Toxicity Studies
No. 8	Structure-Activity Relationships in Toxicology and Ecotoxicology: An Assessment
No. 9	Assessment of Mutagenicity of Industrial and Plant Protection Chemicals
No. 10	Identification of Immunotoxic Effects of Chemicals and Assessment of their Relevance to Man
No. 11	Eye Irritation Testing
No. 12	Alternative Approaches for the Assessment of Reproductive Toxicity (with emphasis on embryotoxicity/teratogenicity)
No. 13	DNA and Protein Adducts: Evaluation of their Use in exposure Monitoring and Risk Assessment
No. 14	Skin Sensitisation Testing
No. 15	Skin Irritation
No. 16	Mutation Research, Special Issue: Early Indicators of Non-Genotoxic Carcinogenesis
No. 17	Hepatic Peroxisome Proliferation
No. 18	Evaluation of the Neurotoxic Potential of Chemicals
No. 19	Respiratory Allergy
No. 20	Percutaneous Absorption

JACC REPORTS

No.	Title
	1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
No. 1	Joint Assessment of Commodity Chemicals, Melamine
No. 2	Joint Assessment of Commodity Chemicals, 1,4-Dioxane
No. 3	Joint Assessment of Commodity Chemicals, Methyl Ethyl Ketone
No. 4	Joint Assessment of Commodity Chemicals, Methylene Chloride
No. 5	Joint Assessment of Commodity Chemicals, Vinylidene Chloride
No. 6	Joint Assessment of Commodity Chemicals, Xylenes
No. 7	Joint Assessment of Commodity Chemicals, Ethylbenzene
No. 8	Joint Assessment of Commodity Chemicals, Methyl Isobutyl Ketone
No. 9	Joint Assessment of Commodity Chemicals, Chlorodifluoromethane
No. 10	Joint Assessment of Commodity Chemicals, Isophorone
No. 11	Joint Assessment of Commodity Chemicals, (HFA-132b) 1,2-Dichloro-1,1-Difluoroethane
No. 12	Joint Assessment of Commodity Chemicals, (HFA-124) 1-Chloro-1,2,2,2-Tetrafluoroethane
No. 13	Joint Assessment of Commodity Chemicals, (HFA-123) 1,1-Dichloro-2,2,2-Trifluoroethane
No. 14	Joint Assessment of Commodity Chemicals, (HFA-133a) 1-Chloro-2,2,2-Trifluoromethane
No. 15	Joint Assessment of Commodity Chemicals, (HFA-141B) 1-Fluoro 1,1-Dichloroethane
No. 16	Joint Assessment of Commodity Chemicals, (HCFC-21) Dichlorofluoromethane
No. 17	Joint Assessment of Commodity Chemicals, (HFA-142b) 1-Chloro-1,1,Difluoroethane
No. 18	Joint Assessment of Commodity Chemicals, Vinylacetate
No. 19	Joint Assessment of Commodity Chemicals, Dicyclopentadiene
No. 20	Joint Assessment of Commodity Chemicals, Tris-/Bis-/Mono-(2-ethylhexyl)phosphate
No. 21	Joint Assessment of Cornmodity Chemicals, Tris-(2-butoxyethyl)-phosphate
No. 22	Joint Assessment of Commodity Chemicals, Hydrogen Peroxide
No. 23	Joint Assessment of Commodity Chemicals, Polycarboxylate Polymers as Used in Detergents
	The state of the s

TECHNICAL REPORTS

No. Title

- No. 1 Assessment of Data on the Effects of Formaldehyde on Humans
- No. 2 The Mutagenic and Carcinogenic Potential of Formaldehyde
- No. 3 Assessment of Test Methods for Photodegradation of Chemicals in the Environment
- No. 4 The Toxicology of Ethylene Glycol Monoalkyl Ethers and its Relevance to Man
- No. 5 Toxicity of Ethylene Oxide and its Relevance to Man
- No. 6 Formaldehyde Toxicology: an Up-Dating of the ECETOC Technical reports 1 and 2
- No. 7 Experimental Assessment of the Phototransformation of Chemicals in the Atmosphere
- No. 8 Biodegradation Testing: An Assessment of the Present Status
- No. 9 Assessment of Reverse-Phase Chromatographic Methods for Determining Partition Coefficients
- No. 10 Considerations Regarding the Extrapolation of Biological Data in Deriving Occupational Exposure Limits
- No. 11 Ethylene Oxide Toxicology and its Relevance to Man : An Up-Dating of ECETOC Technical Report n°5
- No. 12 The Phototransformation of Chemicals in Water: Results of a Ring-Test
- No. 13 The EEC 6th Amendment : A Guide to Risk Evaluation for Effects on the Environment
- No. 14 The EEC 6th Amendment : A Guide to Risk Evaluation for Effects on Human Health
- No. 15 The Use of Physical-Chemical Properties in the 6th Amendment and their Required Precision, Accuracy and Limiting Values
- No. 16 A review of Recent Literature on the Toxicology of Benzene
- No. 17 The Toxicology of Glycol Ethers and its Relevance to Man : An Up-Dating of ECETOC Technical Report n°4
- No. 18 Harmonisation of Ready Biodegradability Tests
- No. 19 An Assessment of Occurrence and Effects of Dialkyl-o-Phthalates in the Environment
- No. 20 Biodegradation Tests for Poorly-Soluble Compounds
- No. 21 Guide to the Classification of Carcinogens, Mutagens and Teratogens Under the 6th Amendment
- No. 22 Classification of Dangerous Substances and Pesticides in the EEC Directives. A Proposed Revision of Criteria for Inhalational Toxicity
- No. 23 Evaluation of the Toxicity of Substances to be Assessed for Biodegradability
- No. 24 The EEC 6th Amendment : Prolonged Fish Toxicity Tests
- No. 25 Evaluation of Fish Tainting
- No. 26 The Assessment of Carcinogenic Hazard for Human Beings Exposed to Methylene Chloride
- No. 27 Nitrate and Drinking Water
- No. 28 Evaluation of Anaerobic Biodegradation
- No. 29 Concentrations of Industrial Organic Chemicals Measured in the Environment: The Influence of Physico- Chemical Properties, Tonnage and Use Pattern
- No. 30(4) Existing Chemicals: Literature Reviews and Evaluations
- No. 31 The Mutagenicity and Carcinogenicity of Vinyl Chloride : A Historical Review and Assessment
- No. 32 Methylene Chloride (Dichloromethane): Human Risk Assessment Using Experimental Animal Data
- No. 33 Nickel and Nickel Compounds: Review of Toxicology and Epidemiology with Special Reference to Carcinogenesis
- No. 34 Methylene Chloride (Dichloromethane) : An Overview of Experimental Work Investigating Species, Differences in Carcinogenicity and their Relevance to Man
- No. 35 Fate, Behaviour and Toxicity of Organic Chemicals Associated with Sediments
- No. 36 Biomonitoring of Industrial Effluents
- No. 37 Tetrachloroethylene: Assessment of Human Carcinogenic Hazard
- No. 38 A Guide to the Classification of Preparations Containing Carcinogens, Mutagens and Teratogens
- No. 39 Hazard Assessment of Floating Chemicals After an Accidental Spill at Sea
- No. 40 Hazard Assessment of Chemical Contaminents in Soil
- No. 41 Human Exposure to N-Nitrosmaines, Their Effects and a Risk Assessment for n-Nitrosodiethanolamine in Personal Care Products
- No. 42 Critical Evaluation of Methods for the Determination of N-Nitrosamines in Personal Care and Household Products
- No. 43 Emergency Exposure Indices for Industrial Chemicals
- No. 44 Biodegradation Kinetics
- No. 45 Nickel, Cobalt and Chromium in Consumer Products: Allergic Contact Dermatitis
- No. 46 EC 7th Amendment: Role of Mammalian Toxicokinetic and Metabolic Studies in the Toxicological Assessment of Industrial Chemicals
- No. 47 EC 7th Amendment: 'Toxic to Reproduction' Guidance on Classification
- No. 48 Eye Irritation: Reference Chemicals Data Bank
- No. 49 Exposure of Man to Dioxins: A Perspective on Industrial Waste Incineration
- No. 50 Estimating the Environmental Concentrations of Chemicals Using Fate and Exposure Models
- No. 51 Environmental Hazard Assessment of Substances
- No. 52 Styrene Toxicology Investigations on the Potential for Carcinogenicity
- No. 53 DHTDMAC: Aquatic and Terrestrial Hazard Assessment. CAS No. 61789-80-8
- No. 54 Assessment of the Biodegradation of Chemicals in the Marine Environment